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About this report

eMedia Holdings Limited 
(eMedia Holdings) presents this 
integrated annual report for the year 
ended 31 March 2022. This report 
aims to provide stakeholders with a 
comprehensive overview of the Group, 
highlighting its financial performance 
and its social, environmental and 
economic impact during this period.

As eMedia Holdings is a JSE-listed company, the 
board and management prescribe to the principles 
of integrated reporting, which guide the Group as it 
provides insight into all the business practices that 
have a material influence on the Group’s long-term 
sustainability and value. 

Reporting guidelines
The extracted financial information from eMedia 
Holdings’ audited annual financial statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2022 has been quoted correctly 
in the integrated annual report.

In an effort to enhance the value of the information 
provided by this report, over the next two years the 
Group intends to closely align this integrated report 
with the latest King IV Report on GovernanceTM in 
South Africa (King IVTM). The updated guidelines aim 
to give an even greater insight into an organisation’s 
value creation process, focusing on transparency. 

Future reports will detail the Group’s use of the 
six capitals, financial capital, manufactured 
capital, intellectual capital, human capital, social 
and relationship capital, and natural capital and 
how it leverages these capitals to create value for 
stakeholders.

This report aligns with the requirements of the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the 
Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 (as amended), the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange’s listings requirements 
and the guidance provided in the integrated reporting 
committee of South Africa’s Framework for Integrated 
Reporting, and the Integrated Reporting Discussion 
Paper (Framework) 2013.

Assurance
The summarised annual financial statements included 
in this report have been audited by independent 
auditors, BDO South Africa Incorporated. The Broad-
Based Black Economic Empowerment information 
in the sustainability report has been verified by 
Empowerdex. The carbon footprint information for 
the Carbon Disclosure Project was compiled with the 
assistance of Catalyst Solutions.

Forward-looking statements
This report contains certain forward-looking 
statements which relate to the financial position 
of the operations of the Group and its underlying 
investments. These statements by their nature 
involve risk and uncertainty as they relate to events 
and depend on circumstances that may occur in 
the future. These forward-looking statements have 
not been reviewed or reported on by the Group’s 
independent auditors.

We welcome any feedback and queries related to 
the information presented in this report. Please send 
an email to info@emediaholdings.co.za with your 
comments and questions.

The directors collectively confirm that they have 
reviewed the content of this report and believe that 
it fairly represents the integrated performance of the 
Group, and addresses all the material issues that are 
relevant for key stakeholders.

This integrated annual report was approved by the 
eMedia Holdings board on 27 July 2022.
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Who we are

The Group’s main asset is a controlling stake in the South African-based 
media group, eMedia Investments Pty Ltd. eMedia Investments has a 
number of core assets in the television and radio broadcasting sector, 
with additional assets in the content, properties and facilities sectors.

Who we are
eMedia Investments continues to be a significant 
media player in southern Africa and the rest of the 
continent with influential independent broadcasters 
that reach millions of people.

e.tv, South Africa’s first and only free-to-air 
commercial television station, continues to garner 
a significant audience share of the free-to-air 
audience. The success of e.tv has also spawned a 
number of spin-off entertainment channels through 
its multi-channel platform.

eSat.tv operates the 24-hour channel (eNCA), 
which is available on certain DStv bouquets and 
gains significant share of the available news 
audience. eNCA also boasts an impressive online 
offering, which includes a mobile app and a 
responsive website.

Platco Digital operates Openview, a free-to-air 
satellite television platform, which broadcasts a 
number of channels, including e.tv’s multi-channel 
offering – eExtra, eMovies, eMovies Extra, eReality, 
eToonz, and recently added eXposed and ePlesier. 
Openview also recently added The Home Channel+.  
In addition to 20 channels on offer, the platform also 
hosts 28 radio channels. 

eVOD, You can now watch shows and movies on 
any device, at any time, where and when you want. 
eVOD is a brand new video on demand platform 
allowing you to watch exclusive movies and shows – 
never seen before, and only available on eVOD.

eVOD brings you hours of entertainment – from 
locally produced high-end dramas and movies, 
Afrikaans dramas, documentaries and so much 
more, there is something for everyone. You can also 
catch up on some of your old favorites and the fast 
forward features allows you to see episodes of some 
dramas in advance.

Our properties and facilities division is primarily 
concerned with providing appropriate solutions 
for media companies. Companies like Media Film 
Service, the Cape Town Film Studios, Refinery Cape 
Town and Moonlighting Films have continued 

to facilitate some of the world’s leading films, 
commercials and television series.

In line with its strategic decision to invest in its core 
broadcasting and content-focused operations, the 
Group has continued to exit non-core operations 
during the period under review.

Our business philosophy
Through focused and ethical management of its 
assets, the Group strives to create long-term value 
for all of its stakeholders through the broadcast of 
local and international entertainment programming 
as well as news and information programming. 
A multi- channel and multi-platform strategy 
enables the Group to provide valuable advertising 
opportunities for marketers.

Our goal is to provide shareholders with a return 
on their investment, while empowering citizens 
through job creation and adding value to the 
communities we operate in. This is reflected in the 
integrated way in which we measure our success 
as a group. As a media group, we have the privilege 
of being able to use our technology, infrastructure 
and platforms to assist South African businesses and 
non-profit organisations.

As we navigate the ever-changing media landscape 
we seek innovative and creative solutions to 
the business challenges facing the Group while 
complying with all relevant regulatory and legal 
requirements, practising good governance and 
being responsible corporate citizens.

Ownership
eMedia Holdings owns a 67.7% stake in eMedia 
Investments. The balance of eMedia Investments’ 
shares are held by Venfin Media Beleggings 
Proprietary Limited (Venfin), a subsidiary of 
Remgro Limited.

eMedia Holdings’ major shareholder is the  
JSE-listed Hosken Consolidated Investments (HCI). 
HCI is a black empowerment investment holding 
company which counts the Southern African 
Clothing and Textile Workers Union (SACTWU)  
as its major shareholder.
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Our companies

Broadcasting Content Properties and facilities

» e.tv
» eSat.tv
» Platco Digital
» YFM

» Open News
» eMedia  

Content

» Media Film Service
» Moonlighting Films
» Refinery Cape Town
» Cape Town Film Studios
» Sasani Africa
» eMedia Properties
» Dreamworld Management 

Company
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Performance highlights

2022 % Change 2021

Revenue R'000  3 190 608 31,4  2 428 959 
EBITDA R'000  677 855 123,8  302 857 
Profit before tax R'000  527 466 206,6  172 017 
Headline earnings R'000  285 902 292,8  72 783 
Headline earnings per share Cents  64,54 293,1  16,42 
Headline earnings per share – 
continuing operations Cents  65,39 210,2  21,08 
Net asset carrying value per share Cents  622 4,4  595 

Financial highlights
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2022
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Net asset carrying value per share after 
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John Copelyn [72]
(Chairperson)

BA Hons, BProc

Non-executive
John joined HCI as chief executive officer in 1997. Prior to this he was a member 
of Parliament and general secretary of the Southern African Clothing and Textile 
Workers’ Union. He is the chairperson of the HCI subsidiary companies Deneb 
Investments, eMedia Holdings and Tsogo Sun Gaming and associate company 
Tsogo Sun Hotels which are listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. He 
was appointed to the eMedia Holdings board in May 2005. 

Khalik Sherrif [61]
(Chief executive officer)

BA (UHDE), B.Ed, MBA, CM(SA)

Executive
Khalik has well over 25 years of extensive media sales experience. He enjoyed a 
successful career in the radio industry – occupying various roles at Radio Lotus 
(re-branded Lotus FM under his tenure) and then at the broader SABC Radio 
Group – where he eventually became national sales manager. He later worked as 
the national sales manager of Multichoice SA, before joining the eMedia Group 
in 2002 as the sales and trade marketing director. He became the Group’s chief 
commercial officer in 2008. He was appointed to the board on 13 November 2018 
and become the CEO on 30 November 2018.

Antonio Lee [49]
(Financial director)

BCom (Acc), PGDA, CA (SA)

Executive
Antonio is the financial director of eMedia Holdings and chief financial officer of 
eMedia Investments. He has 20 years’ post article experience, including 15 years’ 
experience in the media sector. He was appointed to the eMedia Holdings 
board in December 2014.

TG (Kevin) Govender [51] 
BCom Hons, BCompt Hons

Non-executive
Kevin joined the HCI Group in 1997 and has held various roles within the Group. 
He was the chief financial officer of HCI from 2001 to 2019. He was also the 
Acting CEO of eMedia Holdings from 2014 to 2017. He holds directorships in 
numerous HCI subsidiaries including Deneb Investments and Frontier Transport 
Holdings. He is a trustee and chairperson of the finance committee of the HCI 
Foundation. He was appointed to the eMedia Holdings board in October 2008.
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Yunis Shaik [64]
BProc

Non-executive
Prior to his appointment at eMedia, Yunis was an attorney of the High Court and 
served as an acting judge in the Labour Court. He is a former deputy general 
secretary of the Southern African Clothing and Textile Workers’ Union and served 
as a senior commissioner to the CCMA in KwaZulu-Natal. He is chairperson of 
Frontier Transport Holdings and a director of Deneb Investments and Tsogo Sun 
Gaming. He was appointed to the eMedia Holdings board in July 2018.

Velaphi Elias Mphande [63]
Independent non-executive
Elias was appointed as chairperson of HCI in 2014. He was the marketing director 
of Viamax Fleet Solutions, a subsidiary of Transnet, before joining Vukani Gaming 
Corporation as chief executive officer, until 2010. He serves on the boards of eMedia 
Holdings, Tsogo Sun Gaming and HCI Coal. He also consults for various companies 
in the gambling industry. He was appointed to the eMedia Holdings board in 
December 2014.

Rachel Watson [63] 
Lead independent non-executive
Rachel Watson has 35 years’ operational experience within the clothing industry 
as a trade union representative and national media officer. Rachel recently 
retired from a managerial position at a regional broadcaster. She also serves on 
the boards of Frontier Transport Holdings, Tsogo Sun Gaming and HCI. She is a 
trustee of the HCI Foundation. She was appointed to the eMedia Holdings board 
in August 2009.

Loganathan Govender [74]
BCom, CTA, CA (SA)

Independent non-executive
Logie manages his own auditing firm practice in Durban, which is one of South 
Africa’s oldest black-owned auditing practices. He also serves on the board of 
Frontier Transport Holdings. He was appointed to the eMedia Holdings board in 
April 2015.
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Chief executive officer’s report

eMedia’s Financial Performance
For the year ending 31 March 2022, eMedia has 
experienced a welcomed bounce back in its financial 
performance after the impact of the pandemic on its 
business and the economy generally. This is evident 
in a significant increase in profit from continued 
operations of R426.4 million as compared to the 
previous year’s (March 2021) profit of R138.5 million.

The year’s profit is also significantly better than 
the pre-COVID-19 year fiscal (March 2020), which 
ended with an adjusted profit of R241.6 million after 
adding back the goodwill impairment. This fiscal as 
compared to the pre-COVID-19 March 2020 profit 
shows a R184.8 million increase or a 76.5% increase 
and as compared to March 2021 is R287.9 million and 
207.9% better. 

The Group ended the year with a net profit of 
R420.8 million, which is inclusive of the loss of 
R5.6 million, which relates to discontinued operations 
that made up of losses from operations that the 
Group has considered non-essential and will be 
exiting or closing in the next financial year.

The above profit should be viewed in the context of 
the profit of the prior year (March 2021) of R107.9 million 
and an adjusted profit of R225.0 million in the year 
ended 31 March 2020, the year before the impact of 
the pandemic.

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and 
amortisation for the Group ended on R677.9 million 
compared to R302.9 million in the prior year, 
a 123.8% increase year-on-year.

Revenue and Market Share
The Group’s revenue for the fiscal of R3.2 billion 
is the highest ever achieved, underscored by 
an increase in television advertising revenue to 
R2.1 billion. The television advertising revenue 
ended 39% better than the prior year and 
approximately 15% better than the market.

The Group benefitted from the resurgence of 
television advertising revenues as compared to the 
pandemic affected years which experienced a decline 
in advertising spend. This benefit in advertising 
revenues can be attributed to an increase in the 
Group’s prime time audience market share from 

29.6% in March 2021 to 34.1% in March 2022, an 
increase of 15.2%.

Further analysis of the Group’s market share reveals 
an increase in both shoulder and prime time. The 
share ended at 31.8% and 34.1% respectively, making 
the Group the biggest broadcaster in audience share 
in both categories in South Africa.

e.tv
The increase in audience market share has driven 
up e.tv’s advertising revenue. e.tv’s local dailies such 
as Imbewu, Scandal, House of Zwide and Durban 
General have driven the surge in market share in 
prime time. Edged on by this, management have 
invested in another local daily soap at 9:30 pm 
called The Black Door. With a few schedule changes 
Management is confident of increasing market share.

e.tv may well be affected by the analogue switch-off 
(ASO) facing the country but the Group is confident 
that the audience share will be carefully managed. 
This position has been further buoyed by the fact that 
e.tv has had a stunning victory in The Constitutional 
Court against the Minister of Communication thereby 
effectively extending the ASO cut-off date to beyond 
30 June 2022. The Group however, and this has always 
been the stance, acknowledges the importance of 
migrating from the analogue spectrum and will 
now engage the Minister to do this in a responsible 
and rational manner that will not deprive millions of 
households access to television and will ensure etv’s 
market share for the foreseeable future. 

Openview, the eChannels and 
Multichoice
There has also been an improvement in the ratings 
of the other six channels produced by the Group. 
eExtra, eMovies Extra and eReality rank in the top 15 
of all satellite channels available in South Africa. A few 
more channels will be launched on the Openview 
platform in the new fiscal.

Whilst this direct-to-home (DTH) unit of the 
business accounted for 21.9% of the advertising 
revenue amounting to R468.1 million which is 
up from R269.6 million in the previous year this 
has been threatened by the fact that Multichoice 
has not renewed the contract to carry four of the 

 An exceptional year – despite the uncertainty and economic 
challenges in the world around us, we are grateful for another   
year in business and broadcasting. 

– Khalik Sherrif (CEO)
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entertainment channels (eExtra, eMovies, eMovies 
Extra and eToonz) on certain of the Multichoice 
bouquets.

The distribution of the four Openview entertainment 
channels on Multichoice, which contributed to the 
Group’s audience and revenue share was taken to the 
Competition Commission which ruled against the 
interim relief sort by the Group. The Group has appealed 
the matter and this was heard on 8 July 2022. The 
outcome of the appeal is awaited.

In the meantime, set-top box activations continue to 
grow with nearly 60 000 units being activated in May 
and the mark of 3 million households drawing nearer.

eNCA
The news channel, eNCA, is the most watched news 
channel in the country, although it’s not offered on all 
tiers of the DSTV bouquet, whereas the competition 
is on all tiers. The advertising revenue targets were 
achieved through the pandemic affected years while 
its costs were carefully maintained.

The Group has secured a further five year agreement 
with Multichoice for the carriage of eNCA. The 
channel will remain exclusive to Mutichoice.

eVOD
In August 2021 eMedia launched an over-the-top 
(OTT) service, eVOD which has been well accepted in 
its target market. The number of registered viewers 
to date has been very encouraging with the average 
daily minutes viewed in excess of 1 500 000. The 
eOriginals offering on eVOD is the leading audience 
generator on eVOD making the Group bullish about 
investing a further R100 million in local original 

content which will be amortised across the Group’s 
platforms and channels.

Strategic Outlook and Conclusion
The Group continues to live the mantra that 
technology and premium local content will keep 
the Group as the front-runner in an extremely 
competitive market for “eye-balls”. The 2023 financial 
year will see the launch of a new “smarter” set-top 
box which include built-in Wi-Fi and the capability for 
the Group to be innovative with advertising revenue. 
Together with the Group is working on a new android 
box which will hopefully hit the market in the second 
half of the 2023 calendar year.

The Group will also start construction of a state-of-
the-art VFX studio at its Hyde Park precinct. This will 
further enhance the already premium local content 
to a level that will compete with international players. 
The 2023 year will also see the Group enter the pay 
television market.

These advancements together with the drive to work 
efficiently and smartly will hopefully maintain the 
Group as the leading broadcaster in the country. 
Management wishes to thank all stakeholders and 
especially its employees for a fantastic 2022 and wish 
the team will repeat the performance for a great 2023 
financial year.

MKI Sherrif
Khalik Sherrif
Chief executive officer

27 July 2022



Finance report

The financial year ended 31 March 2022 has witnessed 
a resounding return for television revenues as 
compared to the previous fiscal impacted on by 
Covid-19. The Group had an extremely successful 
year ending at 39% ahead of the prior year and 
29% ahead of budget for advertising revenue. The 
Group also recorded combined advertising revenue 
of R2.3 billion, the highest recorded in the history 
of the Group and the first time it exceeded the 
R2 billion mark.

TV revenue (R’000)

2020 2021 2022
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The TV advertising sales team exceeded target 
for every month of the year. This has resulted in 
the Group ending the year on R2.129 billion or 
R454.9 million more than target, which equates 
to 27% and R599.6 million more than the prior year 
which equates to 39%, for television advertising 
spend. Radio advertising spend ended the period 
at 27% more than budget and 44% more than the 
prior year.

The total television advertising cake has shown a 
better-than-expected improvement with the world 
and South Africa getting used to the “new normal”. 
Television advertising revenue has seen an increase 
of approximately 20% year-on-year, keeping in mind 
that the first quarter of 2021 started with the country 
in a hard lockdown and the economy coming to a 
standstill. What is encouraging however, is that the 
advertising cake has exceeded the levels experienced 
in the 2020 financial year with the recovery being 
quicker than the industry expected. 
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Market share 
The Group’s market share in audience measurement amongst All Adults, including all the Group’s channels, 
is at 34.1% in prime time (18:00 to 22:00), up from 29.6% in March 2021, an increase of 14.19%. e.tv reached 23.4% share 
in prime time.

All adults between 18:00 – 22:00 (%)
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During this time of Covid-19, market share for the Group has in fact increased to 34.1% in March for prime time, 
this is compared to the prior year of 29.6%. The 06:00 to 24:00 share as at the end March 2022, is at 31.8%. As at 
18 April 2022, the Group had a share of 32.5% compared to the prior year of 29.7%. This is also compared to the 
SABC share of 26.9% and DStv share of 32.4%. During prime time, eMedia had a share of 34.8% compared to the 
SABC of 33.8% and DStv of 26.5%, making the Group the biggest broadcaster in both 06:00 to 24:00 and prime 
time. This is the first time the Group has beaten the SABC in prime time.

The increase in market share is driven by the impact of Durban Gen on e.tv, which has already reached its first 
milestone of 5ARs and also its first 6AR during February and is now consistently getting a 20% market share in 
a slot previously dominated by the SABC, as well as the improvement of the eExtra and the eReality channels. 
In recent weeks however the daily has not performed as well as expected and management is in discussions 
with the production house regarding the renewal of a new season. The start of the new daily, House of Zwide, 
has also shown some good traction ending higher than where Rhythm City had ended off. At the end of 
March, eExtra was the most watched non-terrestrial channel in the country, both in prime time and during 
06:00 to 24:00.
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At the end of March 2022, 2 774 454 boxes had been activated and is growing on average at over 1 200 per day, 
following the announcement of the SABC partnership and the launch of the SABC sports channel together with 
the SABC switching off its analogue signal.

Box activities (boxes)
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This DTH unit of the business accounted for 21.9% of the advertising revenue amounting to R468.1 million which 
is up from R269.6 million in the previous year. Profitability in this unit has been achieved for the first time with 
content costs for the fiscal being pegged at R446.3 million.

Management has decided to close the non-performing news and sports channel but has launched ePlesier (an 
Afrikaans-dubbed telenovela channel) which has already reached the performance threshold to measure within 
its first month. eRewind has also been relaunched as eXposed with a block of Vice programming.

Openview will also be launching the Home Channel in May and another entertainment channel in October 
this year.
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Net profit (R’000)

2020 2021 2022
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Net Profit
The net profit from continuing operations ended the 
year at R426.4 million. 

» The increase in profits when compared to the prior 
year is:

– Advertising revenue increase – R649.5 million.

– Increased program costs – R149.6 million.

With DSTV not accepting the four entertainment 
channels (eExtra, eMovies, eMovies Extra and eToonz) 
to continue in the new agreement it has necessitated 
schedule changes on e.tv and looking at the channel 
offering on Openview.

Conclusion
The Group is forging ahead with numerous 
technology advances and strategic planning to 
continue to be the audience share market leader. 
The investment in Openview provides the Group with 
the strategic flexibility and is the plan to address the 
challenges of the transition that digital migration 
brings with it.

With the closure of non-core assets, the Group is now 
focused on its core business of broadcasting, content 
creation, platform advancements and a granular 
focus on technology that improves broadcasting.

AS Lee
Antonio Lee
Financial director
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eMedia’s streaming platform 

Piet’s 
Sake Atlantis Horns

Total movie minutes 
19 431 425

Top 3 movies

2 446 441 
minutes watched

1 055 334 
minutes watched

648 371 
minutes watched

Total catalogue size in minutes

288 563
Total viewed minutes

(Aug '21 – Mar '22)

155 206 926

eVOD is South Africa’s fastest growing streaming service, 
launched by eMedia on 5 August 2021. The app allows viewers 
to watch movies, series, Afrikaans Telenovelas and much more 
on any device, at any time. The main content driver is eVOD 
original movies and series, with a strong focus on local content. 
eVOD has racked up 461 611 subscribers in less than a year.
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Is’Phindiselo  
Feemium Elif

House of 
Zwide

Total movie minutes 
135 775 174

13 493 600 
minutes watched

12 869 420 
minutes watched

11 038 788 
minutes watched

Top 3 series
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SAFTA awards 
About the SAFTAs (The South African Film and Television Awards)
In 2005 representatives of the South African Film and Television industry resolved to come together with 
guidance from the National Film and Video Foundation of South Africa (NFVF) to establish the annual South 
African Film and Television Awards, the SAFTAs. The Awards honour, celebrate and promote the creativity, 
quality and excellence of South African Film and Television talent and productions, and serve to encourage 
entrepreneurship and the development of new talent within the industry. Each award recipient is 
presented with a trophy, the ‘Golden Horn’, which has three heads symbolising collective effort, community, 
and the recognition of the individual as part of a team – an experience inherent to the film and television 
industry where collaboration is the cornerstone of successful productions.

Achievements and accolades 

About the Royalty Soapie Awards
The Royalty Soapie Awards acknowledges the extensive role soapies play within society and aims to 
nurture and grow talent, by creating a standard of excellence for the soapie industry and recognising 
and awarding those who excel. We inspire growth through education and awareness, building an 
industry that impacts and shapes the hearts and minds of the nation, fostering a STAR culture!

Winners

2021 Winners
TV Soaps/Telenovela
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Best Actress
Best Supporting 

Actress Best TV Soap
Petronella Tshuma,  
Rhythm City (e.tv)

Masasa Mbangeni, 
 Scandal (e.tv)

Rhythm City (e.tv)

Outstanding cinematography Outstanding lead actress 
Imbewu Lusanda Mbane as Boniswa Langa  

in Scandal
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Journalism Awards 
About the Vodacom Journalist of the Year Awards
This competition celebrates the profession and its integral part in our daily lives. For two decades, the 
Vodacom Journalist of the Year Awards have recognised many of the leading lights of South African 
journalism, those who have contributed to upholding democracy and protecting the right of freedom of 
expression, so vitally important in our society. 
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Gauteng Regional Winners from eNCA

Live Reporting/ 
Breaking News category

Young Journalist  
of the Year Award

Siphamandla Goge, Bongumusa Mkhize 
and Nkanyiso Mdlalose

Checkpoint’s Jabulile Mbatha

Western Cape Regional Winners from eNCA

Lifestyle Sport
Tanya Nefdt, Mario Pedro,  

Crescendo Louw and Asanda Javu
Justin Ford

KwaZulu-Natal and Mpumalanga Regional Winners from eNCA

Features Lifestyle
Live Reporting/
Breaking News

Dasen Thathiah,  
Nkanyiso Mdlalose,  
Susanna Holmes,  
Joe Komane and  

Sandie Makhubela

Checkpoint’s  
Jabulile Mbatha

Dasen Thathiah, 
 Mcebisi Sithole and 
Nkanyiso Mdlalose
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Shareholder snapshot

Ordinary shares 
Breakdown of issued capital

Type of shares
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

Certificated shares 381 9.59 16 298 0.03
Dematerialised shares 3 592 90.41 63 793 946 99.97

Issued capital 3 973 100.00 63 810 244 100.00

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more

Shareholder
Type of
holding

Number of
shares

% of issued 
capital

Fulela Trade and Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd DEMAT 51 196 137 80.23

51 196 137 80.23

Breakdown by range of units

Share range
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

1 – 1 000 3 673 92.45 93 096 0.15
1 001 – 5 000 123 3.10 350 678 0.55
5 001 – 50 000 144 3.62 1 986 366 3.11
50 001 – 100 000 10 0.25 699 445 1.10
100 001 and over 23 0.58 60 680 659 95.09

3 973 100.00 63 810 244 100.00

Breakdown by domicile

Domicile
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

Non-resident shareholders 38 0.96 5 033 771 7.89
Resident shareholders 3 935 99.04 58 776 473 92.11

3 973 100.00 63 810 244 100.00



Breakdown by distribution of shareholders

Distribution of shareholders
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

Banks 9 0.23 3 034 014 4.75
Close corporation 8 0.20 63 777 0.10
Individual 3 857 97.08 4 379 404 6.86
Investment company 22 0.55 970 310 1.52
Pension fund 7 0.18 88 619 0.14
Private company 16 0.40 53 402 043 84.94
Public company 29 0.73 1 623 629 6.81
Trust 25 0.63 248 448 0.39

3 973 100.00 63 810 244 100.00

Breakdown by public/non-public shareholders

Distribution of shareholders
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

Non-public shareholders 6 0.15 53 249 716 83.45
Non-executive directors 1 0.03 100 0.00
Shareholders’ interest in shares
Fulela Trade and Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd 1 0.03 51 196 137 80.23
Sbsa ITF 36One Bci SA Equity Fund 1 0.03 140 829 0.22
FRB ITF 36One Snn Qi Hedge Fund 1 0.03 1 696 289 2.66
FRB ITF 3Oone Snn Retail 
Hedge Fund 1 0.03 106 352 0.17
Ocean36One En Commandite 1 0.03 110 009 0.17
Public shareholders 3 967 99.67 10 560 528 16.55

3 973 100.00 63 810 244 100.00
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N-ordinary shares 
Breakdown of issued capital

Type of shares
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

Certificated shares 316 11.95 37 360 0.01
Dematerialised shares 2 329 88.05 381 889 999 99.99

Issued capital 2 645 100.00 381 927 359 100.00

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more

Shareholder
Type of
holding

Number of
shares

% of issued 
capital

Hosken Consolidated Investments Ltd DEMAT 303 330 485 79.42
Rivetprops 47 Pty Ltd #2 DEMAT 21 227 528 5.56

324 558 013 84.98

Breakdown by range of units

Share range
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

1 – 1 000 2 300 86.96 99 880 0.03
1 001 – 5 000 118 4.46 352 394 0.09
5 001 – 50 000 171 6.47 2 789 744 0.73
50 001 – 100 000 17 0.64 1 078 614 0.28
100 001 and over 39 1.47 377 606 727 98.87

2 645 100.00 381 927 359 100.00

Breakdown by domicile

Domicile
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

Non-resident shareholders 35 1.32 4 897 815 1.28
Resident shareholders 2 610 98.68 377 029 544 98.72

2 645 100.00 381 927 359 100.00

Shareholder snapshot continued
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Breakdown by distribution of shareholders

Distribution of shareholders
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

Banks 9 0.34 2 080 054 0.54
Close corporation 9 0.34 158 902 0.04
Individual 2 533 95.77 17 622 894 4.61
Investment company 12 0.45 3 253 387 0.85
Pension fund 3 0.11 81 191 0.02
Private company 18 0.68 21 077 058 5.52
Public company 29 1.10 329 346 120 86.24
Trust 32 1.21 8 307 753 2.18

2 645 100.00 381 927 359 100.00

Breakdown by public/non-public shareholders

Distribution of shareholders
Number of

shareholders
% of 

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued 

capital

Non-public shareholders 12 0.45 357 018 428 93.48
Non-executive directors 0 0.00 0 0.00
Shareholders’ interest in shares
Hosken Consolidated 
Investments Ltd 1 0.04 303 330 485 79.42
Rivetprops 47 Pty Ltd #2 1 0.04 21 227 528 5.56
eMedia holdings 1 0.04 8 004 932 2.10
S A Clothing & Textile 
Workers Union 1 0.04 6 338 460 1.66
The Ceejay Trust 1 0.04 5 168 688 1.35
FRB ITF 36One SNN QI Hedge Fund 1 0.04 3 586 276 0.94
eMedia Holdings 1 0.04 2 981 149 0.78
Ceejay Trust 1 0.04 2 660 850 0.70
SBSA ITF 36One BCI SA 
Equity Fund 1 0.04 1 972 925 0.52
Fulela Trade and Invest 81 (Pty) Ltd 1 0.04 1 289 814 0.34
Ocean36One En Commandite 1 0.04 232 526 0.06
FRB ITF 36One SNN Retail 
Hedge Fund 1 0.04 224 795 0.06
Public shareholders 2 633 99.07 24 908 931 6.52

2 645 100.00 381 927 359 100.00



eM
ed

ia
 H

ol
d

in
g

s 
In

te
g

ra
te

d
 A

n
n

u
al

 R
ep

or
t 

20
22

24

Director’s interest in shares

At the year–end the directors (including their family interests) were directly or indirectly interested in the 
company’s issued shares as follows:

Ordinary shares 

2022 2021

Number of
shares %

Number of
shares %

Direct – – – –
Indirect 3 936 130 6.2 3 936 130 6.3

N–ordinary shares 

2022 2021

Number of
shares %

Number of
shares %

Direct 5 765 175 1.5 5 765 175 1.5
Indirect 23 321 063 6.1 23 321 063 4.7

There have been no material changes to the date of this report.

Details of directors’ beneficial direct and indirect interest in the ordinary and N ordinary shares are as follows: 

Ordinary shares 

Direct Indirect

2022 2021 2022 2021

TG Govender – –  10 314  10 314 
Y Shaik – –  45 130  45 130 
AS Lee – – – – 
MKI Sherrif – – – – 
JA Copelyn – – 3 880 686 3 880 686 
VE Mphande – – – – 
L Govender – – – – 
RD Watson – – – – 
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N–ordinary shares 

Direct Indirect

2022 2021 2022 2021

TG Govender – –  61 112  61 112 
Y Shaik – –  267 387  267 387 
AS Lee  47 644  47 644 – – 
MKI Sherrif  5 717 531  5 717 531 – – 
JA Copelyn – – 22 992 564 22 992 564 
VE Mphande – – – – 
L Govender – – – – 
RD Watson – – – – 



Corporate 
governance
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Corporate 
governance

Ethical conduct, good corporate governance and 
risk governance are fundamental to the way that 
eMedia Holdings manages its business. Stakeholders’ 
interests are balanced against effective risk 
management and eMedia Holdings’ obligations to 
ensure ethical management and responsible control.

Ethics
The Group has a code of conduct which underpins 
its business practices. All staff are expected to adhere 
to this code. It provides guidance and clarification on 
matters such as conflicts of interest, acceptance and 
giving of donations and gifts, the compliance with 
laws and the dissemination of Group confidential 
information.

In line with the principles in this code, it is expected of 
all employees to be accountable for their actions and 
act in a manner that adheres to the following core 
values:

» Honesty 

» Integrity

» Mutual Respect

» Accountability

» Professionalism

The directors, officers and senior management 
of eMedia Holdings and its subsidiaries remain 
committed to a high level of corporate governance 
and endorse the Code of Corporate Practices and 
Conduct as enshrined in the King IV Report on 
Corporate GovernanceTM. The Group recognises that 
sound corporate governance practices enhance 
shareholder value and by conducting the Group’s 
affairs with integrity, this will ensure the long-term 
sustainability of the business.

Board of directors
The board is regulated by a formal board charter, 
which sets out the role of the board and the 
responsibilities of the directors. The board maintains 
full and effective control over the company and is 
accountable and responsible for its performance. 
The board charter codifies the board’s composition, 
appointment, authorities, responsibilities and 
processes, and sets out the fiduciary duties of the 
directors of the company. It provides the board with 
a mandate to exercise leadership, determine the 
Group’s vision and strategy and monitor operational 
performance.

Composition of the board
The composition of the board comprises a balance of 
power, with a majority of non-executive directors, the 
majority of the latter being independent.

The board currently comprises two executive directors 
and six non-executive directors, three of whom are 
classified as independent. The composition of the 
board reflects the need to protect the interest of 
all stakeholders as well as the demographics of the 
country. The majority of the board members are 
previously disadvantaged individuals as defined in 
the Employment Equity Act.

eMedia Holdings directors 
» JA Copelyn* (chairperson)

» MKI Sherrif (chief executive officer)

» AS Lee (financial director)

» TG Govender* 

» Y Shaik*

» VE Mphande*^

» L Govender*^ 

» RD Watson*^ (lead independent)

* Non-executive
^ Independent

The roles of the chairperson and chief executive 
officer are separated.

To uphold their independence and integrity, directors 
disclose all material interests as and when they arise. 
A list of directors’ interests is tabled annually.

The directors are entitled to seek independent 
professional advice at the company’s expense 
concerning the company’s affairs and have access to 
any information they may require in discharging their 
duties as directors. Seminars, workshops and lectures 
by leading experts in their field are given on an on-
going basis to directors to assist in their duties.

Board committees
Three board committees and an executive committee 
have been established to assist the board in 
discharging its responsibilities. In line with King IVTM, 
all board committees comprise only of members 
of the board but appropriate personnel are also 
invited to the meetings as required. All committees 
are empowered to obtain such external or other 
independent professional advice as they consider 
necessary to carry out their duties. These committees 
play an important role in enhancing good corporate 
governance and improving internal controls and 
consequently the company’s performance. Each 
board committee acts according to written terms 
of reference, approved by the board and reviewed 
annually, setting out its purpose, membership 
requirements, duties and reporting procedures.
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Each of the company’s major subsidiaries has 
established board and committee structures which 
submit regular reports to the company. 

eMedia Holdings audit and risk 
committee 

Members 

L Govender – chairperson of the audit and risk 
committee

VE Mphande

RD Watson

NJ Williams has a permanent invite to these 
meetings and is an independent director of eMedia 
Investments Proprietary Limited.

eMedia Holdings social and ethics 
committee

Members 

RD Watson – chairperson of the social and ethics 

JA Copelyn

L Govender

HJ Carse has a permanent invite to these meetings 
and is an independent director of eMedia 
Investments Proprietary Limited.

eMedia Holdings remuneration 
committee 

Members 

RD Watson – chairperson of the remuneration 
committee

JA Copelyn

VE Mphande

HJ Carse has a permanent invite to these meetings 
and is an independent director of eMedia 
Investments Proprietary Limited.

Meetings of the board
During the year eMedia Holdings held four board 
meetings. The directors are comprehensively briefed 
in advance of the meetings and are provided with the 
necessary information to enable them to discharge 
their responsibilities. 

Individual directors’ attendance at the eMedia 
Holdings board meetings are set out in the table 
below.

Board 
members

21 May 
2021

12 Aug 
2021

08 Nov 
2021

17 Mar 
2022

JA Copelyn √ √ √ √
TG Govender √ √ √ √
RD Watson √ √ √ √
L Govender √ √ √ √
AS Lee √ √ √ √
VE Mphande √ √ √ √
MKI Sherrif √ √ √ √
Y Shaik √ √ √ √

Meetings of the audit and risk 
committee
During the year eMedia Holdings held four audit and 
risk committee meetings. 

The members are comprehensively briefed in 
advance of the meetings and are provided with the 
necessary information to enable them to discharge 
their responsibilities. 

Individual members’ attendance at the eMedia 
Holdings audit committee meetings are set out in the 
table below.

Board 
members

10 May 
2021

21 Jul 
2021

08 Nov 
2021

16 Mar 
2022

L Govender √ √ √ √
RD Watson √ √ √ √
VE Mphande √ √ √ √
NJ Williams √ √ √ √

Meetings of the social and ethics 
committee
During the year eMedia Holdings held two social 
and ethics committee meeting. The members are 
comprehensively briefed in advance of the meetings 
and are provided with the necessary information to 
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. 

Individual members’ attendance at the eMedia 
Holdings social and ethics committee meetings are 
set out in the table below.

Board members
12 Aug 

2021
17 Mar 

2022

JA Copelyn – √
RD Watson √ √
L Govender √ √
HJ Carse √ √
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Meetings of the remuneration 
committee
During the year eMedia Holdings held three 
remuneration committee meetings. The members 
are comprehensively briefed in advance of the 
meetings and are provided with the necessary 
information to enable them to discharge their 
responsibilities. 

Individual members’ attendance at the eMedia 
Holdings remuneration committee meetings are set 
out in the table below.

Board members
08 Nov 

2021
17 Mar 

2022

JA Copelyn √ √
RD Watson √ √
VE Mphande √ √
HJ Carse √ √

Financial director
AS Lee, an executive director, is the financial director 
of the Group. The audit committee has considered his 
expertise and experiences and deems it appropriate. 
The committee is also satisfied that the expertise, 
resources and experience of the finance function is 
adequate. The financial director’s competency and 
expertise will be assessed on an annual basis by the 
audit committee.

Company secretary
HCI Managerial Services was the appointed company 
secretary of the Group for the reporting period. 

The company secretary is appointed by the board in 
terms of the Companies Act and in accordance with 
JSE Listings Requirements. The company secretary 
is not a director of the company. The board has 
assessed the company secretary and is satisfied that 
the appointee has the competence, qualifications 
and experience to effectively fulfil the role of the 
company secretary.

The company secretary provides support and 
guidance to the board in matters relating to 
governance, ethical conduct and fiduciary duties. 
Where required, the secretary facilitates induction 
and training for directors and co-ordinates the annual 
board evaluation process. Directors have unrestricted 
access to the advice and services of the company 
secretary whilst maintaining an arm’s-length 
relationship between the board and the company 
secretary. 

Dealing in the company’s securities
eMedia Holdings complies with the continuing 
obligations of the Listing Requirements of the 
JSE. A group-wide share trading policy is in place 
whereby all directors and employees who have 
access to financial results and other price-sensitive 

information are prohibited from dealing in eMedia 
Holdings shares during certain prescribed restricted 
periods as defined by the JSE, or when the company 
is operating under a cautionary announcement. The 
company secretary regularly disseminates written 
notices to inform these employees of the insider 
trading legislation and advice of closed periods. All 
directors and senior executives are required to obtain 
written clearance prior to the dealing in shares of 
the company and to report all share dealings to the 
company secretary, to ensure that all such dealings 
are disclosed in terms of the applicable JSE listing 
requirements.

Conflict of interest
The directors are required to avoid situations where 
they have direct or indirect interests that conflict 
with the Group’s interests. Procedures are in place for 
disclosure by directors of any potential conflicts and 
for appropriate authorisation to be sought if conflict 
arises.

Compliance with laws, codes and 
standards and licence conditions
eMedia Holdings respects and complies with the laws 
of the countries in which it operates. The Group has 
identified three critical legislative areas which are 
material to the company. They deal with compliance 
with our broadcast licence, human capital 
management and safety in the workplace.

e.tv’s broadcast licence places these obligations 
on the broadcaster: employment equity, skills 
development, language diversity, local content, 
general programming, information programming, 
news and current affairs programming, children’s 
programming and advertising limitation. 

The company has strong and established processes 
which ensure that all obligations specified in the 
company’s licence conditions are met. Quarterly 
compliance reports are produced to ensure that 
targets are met. This allows for any necessary 
adjustments to be made before submission to 
the Independent Communications Authority of 
South Africa.

With regard to laws governing the employer/
employee relations and health and safety, the 
company has formulated policies and delegated 
responsibility to designated employees to monitor 
and ensure compliance with the various Acts. 

Disclosures
To ensure shareholder parity, eMedia Holdings 
ensures that accurate and timely disclosure of 
information that may have a material effect on 
the value of the securities or influence investment 
decisions, is made to all shareholders. The company 
publishes details of its corporate actions and 
performance via the Stock Exchange News Service 
(SENS) and the main South African daily newspapers. 
The company maintains a website through which 
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access is available to the broader community on the 
company’s latest financial, operational and historical 
information, including its annual report.

Litigation 
There is no material legal or arbitration proceedings 
which may have a material effect on the financial 
position of eMedia Holdings.

Governance of information technology
Due to the inherent risks in information technology, 
King IVTM has recommended that the board of 
directors be responsible for the assessment, 
implementation and monitoring of information 
technology (IT) within the company. As a media 
investment company and with the convergence 
of broadcasting and IT, IT governance is critical to 
governance procedures. 

 

IT governance is a standing item on the audit and 
risk committee agenda, with the head of Information 
technology for e.tv, eNCA and Platco reporting to the 
committee on a quarterly basis. An annual external 
audit evaluates IT in terms of governance. This 
ensures that policies and procedures are current, 
relevant and implemented. In addition to the 
annual external audit there are also internal audits 
conducted during the year.

The shift away from traditional broadcasting 
equipment towards information technology 
infrastructures means that all IT equipment, as 
related to broadcast infrastructure is purchased with 
a five-year maintenance warrantee. This ensures that 
resources are readily available in the event of failure. 

With regards to the delivery of television channels for 
broadcast, the companies use both fibre and satellite 
delivery mechanisms with the consideration of 
redundancy always taken into account.
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King IVTM – application register

Principle 1:

The governing body should lead ethically and effectively.

The board of directors (the board) endorse a code of ethics based on the organisation’s five core values of 
honesty, integrity, mutual respect, accountability and professionalism. The code of ethics is a cornerstone for 
the long-term strategy of the organisation and affirms the way the organisation conducts its business and 
embodies the standards that the board has set for itself and for the Group. 

In pursuit of strategic objectives and positive outcomes for stakeholders, the board exhibits, both collectively 
and individually, characteristics of integrity, competence, responsibility, accountability, fairness and 
transparency. Through the approved board charter, which outlines various roles and responsibilities, board 
members hold each other accountable for decisions made and ensures that stakeholders’ interests are 
balanced against effective risk management and eMedia Holdings’ obligations. This ensures that ethical 
management and responsible control is inherent within the Group.

Principle 2:

The governing body should govern the ethics of the organisation in a way that supports the 
establishment of an ethical culture.

The Group’s code of ethics has clearly defined values which all employees are expected to abide by. The board 
determines values which encourage an ethical environment of fairness and transparency. They have delegated 
the authority to management to promote the code of ethics, however the board remains ultimately responsible 
for the ethics of the Group. 

The Group’s code of ethics is principle-based. This enables employees to navigate situations conscientiously, as, 
opposed to being governed by a set of stringent rules that must be implemented and monitored.

eMedia Holdings consider ethical conduct, good corporate governance, risk governance and fair remuneration 
fundamental to a well-run business.

eMedia Holdings sees itself as a good corporate citizen in all its financial matters. This is illustrated by having 
received unqualified audit opinions since its inception with no fraud or allegations of fraud being identified.

Principle 3:

The governing body should ensure that the organisation is and is seen to be a responsible 
corporate citizen.

The board constantly ensures the protection, investment and enhancement of the economy, environment and 
society in which the Group operates.

As the owner of some of South Africa’s leading broadcasters, eMedia Holdings is in the unique position to use 
its media platforms to support non-profit organisations that do important work and raise awareness around 
important social issues at a national level. 

eMedia Holdings is committed to Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment and undergoes an annual 
verification. Part of the Group’s commitment to empowerment is evidenced through the promotion of small 
and medium sized enterprises on its television channels. 

The Group also participates in the voluntary Carbon Disclosure Project to monitor the impact its businesses 
have on the environment and attempt to reduce this impact annually.

The board ensures that the company is a responsible corporate citizen, by complying with Constitution of SA, 
relevant laws and regulations, and where applicable, leading practices and standards.
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Principle 4:

The governing body should appreciate that the organisation’s core purpose, its risks and 
opportunities, strategy, business model, performance and sustainable development are all 
inseparable elements of the value creation process.

The board is cognisant of and appreciates the inter-dependent and inter-related elements of the value creation 
process. As such, the board ensures that the organisation’s core purpose, its risks and opportunities, strategy, 
business model, performance and sustainable development are given sufficient attention for the long-term 
sustainability of the Group. 

The board ensures that its strategy is aligned with the purpose of the Group, the value drivers of its business and 
the legitimate interests and expectations of its stakeholders.

As an investment holding company, the board is actively involved in discussing, reviewing and ultimately 
approving the acquisition of new business units or the disposal of investments. 

The board continually reviews the resources available to execute its strategy. Resources, include, inter alia, 
financial resources, processes, systems, infrastructure, intellectual property, positioning, related assets and 
employees, which support its value chain. The board takes account of the legitimate expectations of its 
stakeholders in its decision-making, keeping the best interests of the Group in mind.

Strategy is translated into key performance and risk areas (including but not limited to, finance, ethics, 
compliance and sustainability) and the associated performance and risk measures are identified and clear. 
All strategies implemented will have both positive and negative consequences on social and environmental 
conditions depending on the various advocacy groups which reflect the underlying value differences of the 
Group. However, the company continues to monitor and assess the risk, including the reputational risk, when 
determining strategy.

Principle 5:

The governing body should ensure that reports issued by the organisation enable stakeholders 
to make informed assessments of the organisation’s performance, and its short, medium and 
long-term prospects.

The Group has controls in place which has enabled it to verify and safeguard the integrity, being accuracy and 
reliability, of its integrated annual report. The board ensures that the reporting framework complies with the 
Companies Act of 2008, as amended, and the JSE’s Listing Requirements.

The board reviews the provisional results, interim results, integrated annual report and annual financial 
statements to ensure that all the reporting requirements are sufficiently met, in terms of both legality and 
relevance of information to a diverse group of stakeholders. The board, via its committees, are responsible for 
the integrity and transparency of all reports and circulars that are published and distributed to stakeholders.

Principle 6:

The governing body should serve as the focal point and custodian of corporate governance in 
the organisation. 

The board is the focal point and custodian of corporate governance. The board, on an annual basis, reviews and 
approves its charter, as well as all committee mandates and terms of reference.
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Principle 7:

The governing body should comprise the appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, experience, 
diversity and independence for it to discharge its governance role and responsibilities 
objectively and effectively.

The board has assumed responsibility, in line with the board charter, for the composition of the board by 
ensuring independence, diversity, gender parity, experience, skills, knowledge and resources to effectively 
discharge its governance role and responsibilities and carry out all its duties. This ensures that the number of 
directors and diversity of those on the board is sufficient. The board is satisfied that there is an appropriate 
balance of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and independence for it to discharge its governance role and 
responsibilities objectively and effectively.

The board is comprised of seven members, including two executive directors and five non-executive directors, 
of which three are independent non-executive directors. As per the rules of the JSE and the Companies Act 
of 2008, the board has a sufficient number of independent directors to appoint to the board committees and 
make up a quorum at the meetings. The board is experienced in legal, financial, media, labour relations and 
business sectors. The board is chaired by Mr John Copelyn, a non-executive director, who is not a former CEO of 
the company. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer as a 
formal role description exists for the chairperson.

Ms Rachel Watson is the lead independent director and will chair meetings in the event that Mr John Copelyn is 
absent. 

One-third of the board, including executive directors, are elected by shareholders on a rotational basis. 
Furthermore, directors appointed to the board during the course of the year retire as directors of the company 
and stand for election by shareholders in accordance with the Companies Act of 2008, as amended.

The board does not have a nomination committee, all new candidates are vetted and approved by the board.

The board has applied its mind and has determined, that in line with the Companies Act and King IVTM, the 
independent directors, and those non-executive directors that have served for more than nine years, are not 
unduly influenced by any relationship which will cause bias in their decision making, and which is not in the 
best interest of the company. 

The company considers itself as an outstanding example in relation to B-BBEE. It is both owned by more than 
50% of PDI shareholders and its board is representative of this status. The composition of the board is 87.5% 
people of colour.

Principle 8:

The governing body should ensure that its arrangements for delegation within its own 
structures promote independent judgement, and assist with the balance of power and the 
effective discharge of its duties.

The board ensures that suitable candidates are appointed to the audit and risk, remuneration and social 
and ethics committees to achieve the objectives of the board committee. The overall role and associated 
responsibilities and functions of the committees are included, where necessary, in a terms of reference.

All members of the board of the Group as well as the committees of the board have access to resources and 
information and may request information directly from management on matters of interest to the board.

If required, the directors may take independent advice. Each board committee is chaired by a different  
non-executive director of the board. The board of the company consists of five non-executive directors 
which allows for a balanced distribution of power in respect of membership across committees, so that no 
individual can dominate decision-making, no individual has unfettered powers and no undue reliance is 
placed on any individual.
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Principle 9:

The governing body should ensure that the evaluation of its own performance and that of 
its committees, its chair and its individual members, support continued improvement in its 
performance and effectiveness.

The board of directors assume responsibility for the evaluation of its own performance, its chair, its individual 
members and that of its committees

The board has agreed that the assessments are best conducted by dialogue between all the board members in 
a transparent and open manner at the board meetings.

The audit committee completes written assessments of the committee, the finance director and the finance 
team as well as of the external auditors, which are submitted to the company secretary for review. An 
assessment of the internal auditor has not yet been conducted.

The chairman’s ability to add value, his performance against what is expected of his role and function is 
assessed every year by the board.

The board determines the role, functions, duties and performance criteria for the directors on the board and 
board committees which serve as a benchmark for performance appraisal. 

The remuneration committee reviews and assesses the results of the company and gauges them against set 
targets and the action plan as approved previously by the board.

The board of the Group is satisfied that the manner of its evaluation process leads to improvements in its 
performance and effectiveness.

Principle 10:

The governing body should ensure that the appointment of, and delegation to, management 
contribute to role clarity and the effective exercise of authority and responsibilities.

The board has set the direction and parameters for the powers which are to be reserved for itself, and those 
that are to be delegated to management via the CEO. The CEO is responsible for leading the implementation 
and execution of approved strategy, policy and operational planning, and serves as the chief link between 
management and the board. There is at present no formal succession plan for the CEO.

The CEO and FD oversee that key management functions are headed by individuals with the necessary 
competence and authority as delegated by the board and have been authorised to ensure that key 
management functions are adequately resourced. The board of directors of the underlying investments 
contribute to decisions regarding senior executive appointments in their specific operations.

The board is satisfied that the delegation of the authority framework contributes to role clarity and the effective 
exercise of authority and responsibility within the company.

The company secretarial department is managed by a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries, who 
is empowered and authorised to provide corporate governance services to the board and management 
effectively.

The role and function of the company secretary is in accordance with Section 88 of the Companies Act of 
2008. A resolution confirming the appointment of the company secretary by the board of directors is in place. 
The company secretary has unfettered access to the board (and vice versa) but, for reasons of independence, 
maintains an arm’s-length relationship with it and its members; accordingly, the company secretary is not a 
member of the board. The performance and independence of the company secretary is evaluated annually by 
the board.
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Principle 11:

The governing body should govern risk in a way that supports the organisation in setting and 
achieving strategic objectives.

The board’s responsibility for risk governance and risk management processes is expressed in the board charter. 
As an investment holding company, eMedia Holdings continuously considers the risk and opportunities related 
to its current portfolio as well as future investments. This process, which is integral to the manner the company 
makes decisions, is led by the executive committee and supported by the audit and risk committee and the 
board.

The board monitors that risks taken are within the risk tolerance and appetite levels. The audit and risk 
committee reviews the risk management progress and maturity of the company, the effectiveness of risk 
management activities, the key risks facing the company, and the responses to these key risks. 

The audit and risk committee reviews quarterly risk management reports, discussing the key risks facing the 
company and the responses to address these key risks.

Principle 12:

The governing body should govern technology and information in a way that supports the 
organisation in setting and achieving strategic objectives.

The board assumes the responsibility for the governance of IT. The audit and risk committee reviews IT 
governance on a quarterly basis through reports presented to the committee by the head of information 
technology. IT policies have been rolled out across the Group and compliance thereto is monitored on an 
ongoing basis.

Principle 13:

The governing body should govern compliance with applicable laws, and adopted non-binding 
rules, codes and standards in a way that supports the organisation being ethical and a good 
corporate citizen. 

The Group’s major subsidiaries work within a regulated broadcasting environment. Complying with legal 
requirements and licence conditions is critical to the sustainability of the business. The social and ethics 
committee has been mandated to monitor the effectiveness of compliance to legal and broadcast licence 
regulations in the Group. 

The social and ethics committee receives compliance reports at each meeting from the head of regulatory 
and strategy. This monitoring of compliance is a systematic and on-going process ensuring a compliance 
framework that is effective and that any associated risks and/or breaches in compliance are effectively managed 
and mitigated.

The board is aware and understands that the promotion of a culture of compliance within the Group reduces 
the risk of violating the rules and regulations that govern the company. The process of compliance can, 
furthermore, remedy any breach that may have occurred.

The board is further satisfied that the company has met the requirements of the Companies Act (No 71 of 
2008), as amended, and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited. Compliance with all relevant laws, 
regulations, accepted standards or codes is integral to the Group’s risk management process and is monitored 
on a continuous basis. As in previous years there has been no major non-compliance by, or fines or prosecutions 
against, the Group during the year under review.
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Principle 14:

The governing body should ensure that the organisation remunerates fairly, responsibly and 
transparently so as to promote the achievement of strategic objectives and positive outcomes 
in the short, medium and long-term.

eMedia Holding’s remuneration committee is responsible for overseeing the remuneration and incentives of 
the executive directors and executive management. Remuneration is aligned with the company’s approach to 
reward directors and senior executives responsibly ensuring fairness and transparency and to attract and retain 
talent, within the parameters of the overall level of performance of the Group. 

Remuneration practices are aligned with company strategy which includes the achievement of strategic 
objectives within the organisation’s risk appetite and tolerance levels. 

Principle 15:

The governing body should ensure that assurance services and functions enable an effective 
control environment, and that these support the integrity of information for the internal 
decision-making and the organisation’s external reports.

Internal controls are established not only over financial matters, but also operational, compliance and 
sustainability issues. Although a combined assurance model has not yet been formalised, various sources of 
assurance are currently in place at Group level. These include, but are not limited to, internal audit, compliance, 
external audit and the code of ethics.

The internal audit function is independent and objective. The function reports administratively to the 
financial director and functionally to the chairperson of the audit and risk committee, which has approved the 
appointment of the outsourced internal audit firm.

The internal audit function complies with the code of ethics of the Institute of Internal Auditors and the 
International Professional Practices Framework.

Principle 16:

In the execution of its governance role and responsibilities, the governing body should adopt a 
stakeholder-inclusive approach that balances the needs, interests and expectations of material 
stakeholders in the best interests of the organisation over time.

The board has adopted communication guidelines that support a responsible communication programme. 
Stakeholder communication is disseminated through SENS announcements, the company’s website 
and further reports as required by the JSE. The company continuously monitors the effect any decision 
implemented would have on the company’s reputation. 

The board is looking at building on this stakeholder-inclusive approach which balances the needs, interests 
and expectations of material stakeholders in the best interest of the organisation. This stakeholder-
inclusive approach requires the identification of the stakeholders and their inter-connectivity to allow for 
the development of a strategy to manage and integrate the relationships between all the stakeholders by 
managing the business environment, relationships and promotion of shared interests.

The board has delegated the development of this strategy to management.



eM
ed

ia H
old

in
g

s In
teg

rated
 A

n
n

u
al R

ep
ort 20

22
37

Report of the audit and risk 
committee
The audit and risk committee is formally established 
as an independent statutory committee in terms 
of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, 
as amended (the Companies Act). The committee 
oversees audit and risk matters for all the subsidiaries 
of eMedia Holdings, as permitted by section 94(2)(a) 
of the Companies Act.

The audit and risk committee’s terms of reference are 
formalised in a charter which is reviewed annually.

During the year under review, the audit and risk 
committee conducted its affairs in accordance 
with the charter and discharged its responsibilities 
as required by the charter, the Companies Act, 
the material requirements of King lVTM IFRS, the 
JSE Listings Requirements and the organisation’s 
memorandum of incorporation.

Considered the JSE’s most recent report on the 
proactive monitoring of financial statements, and 
where necessary, those of previous periods. The 
committee has taken appropriate action to respond 
to the findings as highlighted in the JSE’s report 
when preparing the annual financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2022.

The audit and risk committee has pleasure in 
submitting this report in respect of the past financial 
year of the Group, as required by section 94 of the 
Companies Act.

Audit and risk committee members 
and meeting attendance
The audit and risk committee consists of three 
independent non-executive directors, elected by the 
shareholders of eMedia Holdings.

Audit and risk committee meetings are held at least 
four times a year as required by the charter.

The financial director and the Group financial 
manager attend the meetings as permanent invitees, 
along with external audit and the outsourced internal 
audit. Other directors and members of management 
attend as required.

Audit and risk committee evaluation
As part of the annual evaluation, the performance 
of the audit and risk committee and its members 
was assessed and found to be satisfactory. In 
addition, members were assessed in terms of the 
independence requirements of King lVTM and the 
Companies Act. All members of the committee 
continue to meet the independence requirements.

Functions of the audit and risk 
committee

The audit and risk committee fulfils an independent 
oversight role regarding the Group’s financial 
statements and the reporting process, including 
overseeing and evaluating appropriate financial 
reporting procedures applicable to the Group 
and all the entities within the Group together 
with the system of internal financial control, with 
accountability to both the board and to shareholders. 
The committee’s responsibilities include the 
statutory duties prescribed by the Companies Act, 
recommendations by King lVTM and additional 
responsibilities assigned by the board.

The committee is satisfied that, in respect of the 
financial period under review, it has performed all the 
functions required by law to be performed by an audit 
and risk committee, including as set out by section 94 
of the Companies Act and in terms of the committee’s 
terms of reference and as more fully set out in the 
corporate governance report. In this connection the 
committee has:

» reviewed the interim, provisional and year-
end financial statements, culminating in a 
recommendation to the board to adopt them;

» reviewed legal matters that could have a 
significant impact on the Group’s financial 
statements;

» reviewed the external audit reports on the annual 
financial statements;

» verified the independence of the external 
auditor as per section 92 of the Companies 
Act and accordingly nominates BDO South 
Africa Incorporated to continue in office as the 
independent auditor and noted the appointment 
of Mrs KA Luck as the designated auditor for 
2022. The committee has recommended the  
re-appointment of Mrs KA Luck as the designated 
registered auditor for the 2023 financial year;

» approved the audit fees and engagement terms of 
the external auditor; and

» determined the nature and extent of allowable 
non-audit services and approved the contract 
terms for the provision of non-audit services by the 
external auditor.

The committee has satisfied itself that BDO South 
Africa Incorporated, the external auditor, and 
Mrs KA Luck, the designated auditor, are independent 
of the company and of the Group.
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The audit and risk committee has reviewed 
sections 3, 8, 13, 15 and 22 and Schedule 8 of the JSE 
Listings Requirements and, based on the amended 
requirements of the JSE accreditation of auditors, 
effective 15 October 2017, confirms that:

i. the audit firm has met all the criteria stipulated 
in the requirements, including that the audit 
regulator has completed a firm-wide independent 
quality control (ISQC 1) inspection on the audit 
firm during its previous inspection cycle;

ii. the auditors have provided to the audit and risk 
committee, the required IRBA inspection decision 
letters, findings report and proposed remedial 
action to address the findings, both at the audit 
firm and the individual auditor level; and

iii both the audit firm and the individual auditor 
understand their roles and have the competence, 
expertise, experience and skills required to 
discharge their specific audit and financial 
reporting responsibilities.

Key audit matters
i) Impairment assessment in respect of 

goodwill, marketing-related and contract-
based intangible assets
The committee reviewed the impairment tests 
performed by management. The value-in-use 
calculations and assumptions were considered 
together with the external auditor’s opinion on 
these calculations. The committee is satisfied that 
goodwill, marketing-related and contract based 
intangible assets is not impaired.

ii) Assessment of useful economic lives 
and impairment indicators relating 
to distribution rights (a category of 
intangible assets) 
The committee reviewed the assessment 
performed by management. The assumptions 
were considered together with the external 
auditor’s opinion on these calculations.

The committee is satisfied with the write off 
processed for the year and comfortable that no 
further write-offs are necessary.

iii) Assessment of amortisation period 
and impairment indicators relating to 
programming rights
The committee reviewed the assessment 
performed by management. The assumptions 
were considered together with the external 
auditor’s opinion on these calculations.

The committee is satisfied with the write-off 
processed for the year and comfortable that no 
further write-offs are necessary.

Private meetings
Audit and risk committee agendas provide for private 
meetings between the committee members and the 
external auditors which are regularly held.

Expertise and experience of the 
financial director and finance function
During the period under review, the committee 
considered the expertise and experience of the 
financial director, Antonio Lee CA(SA), and is 
satisfied that, in terms of section 3.84(h) of the JSE 
Listings Requirements, the financial director has the 
appropriate skills, expertise and experience to meet 
the responsibilities of the position. The committee has 
also, in terms of King IVTM, assessed the expertise of 
the finance function and the committee is satisfied 
that the finance team has the required and adequate 
skills to perform their duties.

Internal audit
The Group has appointed GRIPP Advisory Proprietary 
Limited to perform the internal audit function.

Where appropriate, subsidiaries and/or departments 
are assessed, with quarterly reports made available 
and discussed at the eMedia Holdings audit and risk 
committee meetings.

Risk management and internal control
The board acknowledges that it is accountable for 
the process of risk management and the system of 
internal control of the Group.

The Group operates in a highly regulated 
environment. Where necessary, compliance officers 
have been appointed at each of the Group’s key 
operating subsidiaries and associated company levels 
for ensuring adherence to the various Acts and codes 
that govern the day-to-day operations. Each of the 
Group’s companies has its own board of directors 
responsible for the management, including risk 
management and internal control, of that company 
and its business.

The financial director, Antonio Lee CA(SA), oversees 
risk management for eMedia Holdings. Given the 
changing landscape of broadcasting and media 
in South Africa, eMedia Holdings realises that 
enterprise-wide risk management adds value to the 
robustness and sustainability of an organisation. It 
improves communication, enhances risk awareness 
as well as risk mitigation processes.

Report of the audit and risk committee continued
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The Group utilises the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission’s (COSO) risk management 
methodology to assess the Group’s risk 
appetite versus the cost of risks. The COSO 
framework allows organisations to develop 
cost-effective systems of internal control to 
achieve important business objectives. At 
least four times a year, the audit and risk 
committee documents and reports risks that 
are apparent and arising.

Through thorough consultation with the 
board, the risk appetite and risk-bearing 
capacity for eMedia Holdings is defined.

A full risk assessment is conducted annually 
with quarterly updates and reports to the 
audit and risk committee. eMedia Holdings 
finds it imperative to ensure that risk 
management becomes inducted into daily 
activities which lead to a sustainable risk-
aware culture.

Recommendation of the annual 
financial statements
The committee has evaluated the annual 
financial statements of eMedia Holdings 
Limited and the Group for the period ended 
31 March 2022 and based on the information 
provided to the committee, it recommends 
the adoption of the annual financial 
statements by the board.

L Govender
Loganathan Govender
Chairperson: Audit and risk committee

27 July 2022  
Cape Town
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Report of the 
remuneration committee
Committee Members: At year-end the remuneration 
committee consisted of RD Watson (chairperson), 
JA Copelyn, and VE Mphande

HJ Carse is an independent director of eMedia 
Investments and is a permanent invitee to this 
committee.

Members of the committee are non-executive directors 
with the majority of the members being independent. 
In line with the recommendations of King IVTM the chief 
executive officer attends the meetings of the committee 
at the request of the committee but recuses himself 
from the meeting before any decisions are made.

This committee is primarily responsible for overseeing 
the remuneration and incentives of the executive 
directors and executive management.

It takes cognisance of local best remuneration practices 
in order to ensure that such total remuneration is 
fair and reasonable to both the employee and the 
company. The committee utilises the services of 
independent remuneration consultants to assist in 
providing guidance on the remuneration for executive 
management. The Group’s remuneration philosophy 
strives to reward employees in a fair, transparent 
and responsible way which ensures a culture of 
high performance to deliver returns to shareholders 
through employees who are motivated, engaged and 
committed. This philosophy’s intended consequence 
is to attract, retain and develop employees with 
scarce and critical skills who contribute to sustained 
business growth and are aligned with the strategic and 
operational requirements of the business.

The functions and mandates of the remuneration 
committee include:

» making recommendations to the board on directors’ 
fees and the remuneration and service conditions 
of executive directors, including the chief executive 
officer;

» providing a channel of communication between the 
board and management on remuneration matters;

» reviewing the Group’s remuneration policies, 
practices and proposals, to change these and to 
make recommendations in this regard to the board;

» reviewing and approving the terms and conditions 
of executive directors’ employment contracts, 
taking into account information from comparable 
companies;

» determining and approving any grants to executive 
directors and other senior employees made 
pursuant to the company’s employee share option 
scheme; and

» reviewing and approving any disclosures in the 
annual report or elsewhere on remuneration policies 
or directors’ remuneration.

Executive directors earn a basic salary which is 
determined by independent remuneration consultants 
and escalate in line with inflation for their contracts. 
Bonuses payable are purely discretionary and are 
determined annually after reviewing the performance 
of the Group and its subsidiaries. This bonus is based 
on a multiple of the directors monthly remuneration as 
decided by the board and remuneration committee. 

In the current year the committee approved an 
additional incentive programme which links to the 
overall year end performance of the Group. The bonus 
payable is calculated to each director based on a multiple 
linked to the profit after tax made by the group. This 
bonus is only payable if the director is still employed by 
the group at the time of payment. 

At each reporting period the calculation is reviewed by 
the committee and signed off by the Group’s auditors 
before payment is made. 

Non-executive directors earn a basic fee which is 
in line with companies of a similar size. These fees 
escalate annually in line with inflation and are reviewed 
every three years by an independent remuneration 
consultant. Directors can earn up to a maximum of 
50% of their board fees by serving on the committees 
responsible to the board of directors. Non-executive 
directors do not receive short-term incentives and do 
not participate in any long-term incentive schemes.

In the event that the non-binding resolution advisory 
resolution in respect of the company’s remuneration 
report or its remuneration policy, as summarised in this 
report, is voted against by 25% or more of votes cast 
at the annual general meeting, the board will seek to 
engage directly with the disapproving shareholders 
in order to contemplate the reasons for dissent and 
implement corrective action, if it deems fit.

Position

Proposed
fee 2022

R’000

Approved
fee 2021

R’000

Non-executive director 153.50 146.20
Member of audit 
committee 60.65 57.75
Member of remuneration 
committee 57.23 54.50
Member of social and 
ethics committee Nil Nil
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Non-executive directors        

JA Copelyn (chairperson)  8 158  4 589 –  7 075 – –  19 822 

TG Govender  2 123  1 035 –  3 257 – –  6 415 
Y Shaik  4 215  2 055 –  3 027 – –  9 297 
L Govender      397   397 
VE Mphande – – – –  824 –  824 
RD Watson – – – –  1 222 –  1 222 
Paid by Hosken Consolidated 
Investments Limited's 
subsidiaries not in the  
eMedia Holdings Group

(14 496) (7 679) – (13 359) (1 737) – (35 534)

  10 727  6 704  706 –  706  329  20 909 

        

For the year ended 
31 March 2021

       

Executive directors**        

MKI Sherrif  5 574  4 070  366  –  106  10 116 

AS Lee  4 404  1 734  296  –  82  6 516 

        

Non-executive directors        

JA Copelyn (chairperson)  7 696 – –  6 081 – –  13 777 

TG Govender  2 003 – –  2 629 – –  4 632 

Y Shaik  3 976 – –  2 619 – –  6 595 

L Govender      380   380 

VE Mphande – – – –  1 165 –  1 165 

RD Watson – – – –  1 209 –  1 209 

        

Paid by Hosken Consolidated 
Investments Limited's 
subsidiaries not in the  
eMedia Holdings Group

(13 675)   (11 329)   (25 004)

  9 978  5 804  662 –  2 754  188  19 386 

* Consist of Statutory contributions and other company contributions.

** There is no distinction made in the remuneration packages of executive directors for services as directors and services for carrying 
on the business of the Group.

RD Watson
RD Watson
Chairperson: Remuneration committee

27 July 2022

Directors’ emoluments

 

Salary Bonus

Retirement
and medical

contributions
Share

options
Directors'

fees
Other

 benefits* Total
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

For the year ended 
31 March 2022

       

Executive directors*        

MKI Sherrif  5 964  4 346  389  –  190  10 889 
AS Lee  4 763  2 358  317  –  139  7 577 
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Report of the social and 
ethics committee

Committee members 

RD Watson – chairperson

JA Copelyn

L Govender

HJ Carse has a permanent invitee to these 
meetings and is an independent director of 
eMedia Investments.

The composition of the committee includes a number 
of personnel within the company who are the drivers 
of the underlying functions of the committee. The 
personnel have been invited to join the meetings the 
invitees do not have voting powers.

Functions of the social and ethics 
committee
The committee reports back to the board of eMedia 
Holdings and all decisions taken are decided by the 
board of directors. The social and ethics committee’s 
mandate as set out in its terms of reference is 
aligned to its statutory responsibilities. The social 
and ethics committee monitors and guides the 
company with regard to:

» social and economic development, including the 
company’s standing in terms of the goals and 
purposes of:

– the 10 principles set out in the United Nations 
Global Compact Principles;

– the Organisation of Economic Co-operation 
and Development recommendations regarding 
corruption;

– the Employment Equity Act; and

– the Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment Act.

» good corporate citizenship including:

– promotion of equality, prevention of unfair 
discrimination and reduction of corruption;

– contribution to development of the 
communities in which its activities are 
conducted or within which its products or 
services are marketed; and

– record of donations, sponsorships and 
charitable giving.

» environment, health and public safety, including 
the promotion of environmental policies that 
relate to the activities where the Group has its 
most significant environmental impacts;

» consumer relationships, including the company’s 
advertising, public relations and compliance with 
consumer protection laws;

» labour and employment, including the company’s 
standing in terms of its support of the four 
strategic objectives in respect of the International 
Labour Organization Protocol on decent work and 
working conditions;

» the company’s employment relationships and its 
contribution toward the educational development 
of its employees; and

» reporting to the board on matters discussed at the 
committee meetings, and making the necessary 
recommendations to assist the board in making 
the required decisions.

The sustainability report on pages 43 to 48 
incorporates the various aspects overseen by the 
committee.

RD Watson
RD Watson
Chairperson: Social and ethics committee

27 July 2022  
Cape Town
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Sustainability report

Environmental
Carbon disclosure project
The Group remains committed to minimizing its 
impact on the environment and participates in 
an annual carbon disclosure project (CDP) along 
with its majority shareholder, Hosken Consolidated 
Investments (HCI). Key greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions are measured and monitored allowing for 
the effective management of its emissions. 

The annual GHG emissions report submitted by 
Catalyst Solutions outlines the latest assessment and 
reports in terms of GHG Protocol and CO2e ton, which 
is the universal unit measure.

The report covers the financial year ending 
March 31, 2022. The report includes the Group’s  
largest entities e.tv, eSat.tv, Platco, eMedia Properties 
and Sasani Africa. 

The carbon footprint was calculated according to 
the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol GHG Protocol 
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard. As 
was done last year, this year’s conversion factors 
were sourced from the Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC) 2006 Guidelines and the 
South African Department of Environmental Affairs’ 
Technical Guidelines for Monitoring, Reporting and 
Verification of GHG Emissions by Industry. These 
conversion factors do not change on an annual basis, 
making the carbon footprinting process easier. 

Some emission factors, such as those for business 
travel captured under scope 3 emissions, were still 
sourced from the United Kingdom’s Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). 

The organisational boundary was set according to 
the operational control approach, whereby eMedia 
reports on all GHG emissions from facilities and 
activities over which it has operational control. 

The following steps were taken in order to calculate 
the carbon and water footprints: 

» A carbon questionnaire was prepared and issued 
to eMedia for the collection of data; 

» Catalyst used the completed data questionnaire to 
calculate the carbon footprint for eMedia;

» Values that seemed irregular were queried in 
email and telephone discussions with the entity 
representatives; and 

» The final carbon footprint was sent to entity 
representatives for approval.

In keeping with last year’s methodology, emissions 
from waste, refrigerants and oils and lubricants were 
excluded because of inaccuracies in the data. GHG 
emissions from these sources are likely to be minor 
in comparison to emissions from sources such as fuel 
combustion and electricity use. 

There were no restatements made to the carbon 
footprint for the current year.

The summary below accounts for the latest findings:

GHG emmisions (tCO2e)

Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3

47
7

19
6

19
6

7 
30

6

7 
30

6

6 
61

0

1 
4

90

1 
4

90

1 
13

8

2020/2021 (as reported) 2020/2021 (revised)
2021/2022

The Group will continue to monitor its electricity 
consumption throughout the 2022/2023 fiscal 
to ensure that it is making use of this resource 
efficiently.

Direct GHG emissions
Direct emissions occur from sources that are owned 
or controlled by the company, for example emissions 
from company-owned vehicles.

Electricity/Steam indirect emissions
Scope 2 accounts for GHG emissions from the 
generation of purchased electricity/steam consumed 
by the company.

Indirect emissions
Scope 3 emissions are all indirect emissions (not 
included in scope 2) that occur in the value chain of 
the reporting company including both downstream 
and upstream emissions.
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Scope 1 emissions
Scope 1 emissions were 477 tCO2e in the 2022 
financial year. This is a 144% increase relative to the 
scope 1 emissions in the 2021 financial year. 

The main contributor to scope 1 emissions was petrol 
used in company-owned vehicles. It was responsible 
for 48% of eMedia’s scope 1 emissions.

The remaining 52% was made up of diesel consumed 
in company-owned vehicles (16%) and diesel 
consumed in back-up generators (36%). 

The increase in scope 1 emissions is primarily as a 
result of an increase in emissions associated with 
mobile petrol. Mobile petrol consumption increased 
owing to recovery from COVID-19 and the associated 
restrictions as the company is no longer on skeleton 
staff drivers

In the reporting year, stationary diesel consumption 
also increased due to increased load shedding.

36%

16%

Diesel consumed in company-owned vehicles

48%

Scope 1
emissions

Petrol consumed in company-owned vehicles
Stationary diesel consumption

Scope 2 emissions
Scope 2 emissions totalled 6 610 tCO2e in the 
reporting year. This is a 10% decrease relative to the 
scope 2 emissions in the 2021 financial year.

Scope 2 emissions consist solely of purchased 
electricity that is consumed by eMedia and not 
recovered from tenants.

The biggest contributors to eMedia’s scope 2 
emissions were the Cape Town Offices (40%) 
followed by Sasani Studios (32%) and the 
Johannesburg Office (28%).

The decrease in scope 2 emissions is mainly due to a 
decrease in electricity consumption. The decreased 
electricity consumption was due to the eMedia Head 
Office moving to 4 Albury from 5 Summit. Electricity 
consumption for Sasani also decreased. Sasani 
reports loss of one major client which would have also 
reduced Sasani’s own electricity consumption.

28%

Electricity consumed by eMedia – JHB

32%

Electricity consumed by eMedia – Sasani

40%

Electricity consumed by eMedia – CPT

Scope 2
emissions
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Scope 3 emissions
Scope 3 emissions from the eMedia are attributable 
to emissions from business travel and emissions from 
electricity consumed by tenants in properties that are 
owned and operated by eMedia.

Scope 3 emissions totalled 1 138 tCO2e in the reporting 
year. This is an 24% decrease relative to emissions in 
the 2021 financial year which were 1 490 tCO2e. 

Electricity consumed by tenants in Sasani Studio’s is 
the largest contributor to Scope 3 emissions by far 
(93%). Its contribution to eMedia’s scope 3 emissions 
increased due to a decrease in business travel.

The significant decrease in scope 3 emissions results 
from reduced electricity consumption by Sasani’s 
tenants. Sasani reports the loss of one major client 
that was terminated on 31 July 2021 and its spaces on 
site have not been filled yet. 

93%

Electricity consumed by tenants – Sasani

7%

Short haul flights (<3 hours) – Economy

Scope 3
emissions

Transformation
Broad-based black economic 
empowerment (B-BBEE) 
The Group’s B-BBEE performance is evaluated and 
consolidated at an HCI level on an annual basis. The 
group is proud to have achieved a Level 2 B-BBEE 
rating, up from the Level 3 rating in the prior year. 
The annual compliance report are submitted and 
the certificate uploaded to the Group’s website of 
which shareholders will be advised via SENS once 
this is completed. The following companies are 
included on the HCI B-BBEE certificate: eMedia 
Holdings, eMedia Investments, e.tv, eSat.tv, YFM, 
Sasani Africa, Platco Digital, eMedia Properties 
(previously Sabido Properties) and Media Film Service. 
Under the current B-BBEE Codes of Good Practice, 
exempted micro-enterprises (EMEs) and qualifying 
small enterprises (QSEs) can achieve compliance 
through the completion of an affidavit, provided that 
they meet the required black-ownership criteria. 
Subsidiaries that will complete affidavits include 
Searle Street Post Productions, Open News, eMedia 
Content and Moonlighting Films.

Human relations
Our business, similar to many across the world, 
experienced a complete re-engineering of the 
working environment following the announcement 
of the first lockdown in March 2020 as a result of 
the global COVID-19 pandemic. The subsequent 
upheaval had far reaching consequences on a social, 
financial and psychological level, but despite this, our 
employees continued to work tirelessly to implement 
contingency plans for the sustainability of our 
business and all livelihoods.

The focus in 2021 was to deliver cutting edge 
television with real stories from people sharing their 
experiences, to bring hope and promise of brighter 
days ahead. The year has proven the African Proverb: 
“If you want to go fast, go alone. If you want to go far, 
go together.” 

Being agile and fluid became the order of the day 
as we witnessed the unveiling of our new campus, 
a new workspace that created greater opportunities 
to share, engage, and connect with each, this 
even as other businesses worked remotely. The 
management teams emphasised health, safety and 
wellness, and the Group introduced programmes 
to proactively support employees wellbeing, be it, 
physical, emotional, financial and/or legal. There is 
no doubt that these experiences forged stronger 
human connections, driving higher performance and 
building resilience for our team in a difficult economy 
and industry.
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Through this experience, we did not lose sight of important measures that define our progressive culture:

» 83.7% of our employees are from previously disadvantaged groups, a metric that increases year-on-year.

» 100% of our top management are coloured and indian, consistent with the previous year.

» 59% of management are female.

Our workplace continues to be a reflection of a diverse, inclusive environment and a source of pride reflecting the 
various cultural dynamics of our country.

 
Male Female Foreign 

nationals

Occupational 
level African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Male Female Total

Top management 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
Senior 
management 2 2 1 3 0 2 2 3 0 0 15
Professionally 
qualified 8 7 5 10 12 16 10 12 0 0 80
Skilled technical 144 39 13 55 73 26 15 33 5 0 403
Semi-skilled 111 29 1 7 112 46 10 9 6 0 331
Unskilled 37 4 0 3 29 1 0 0 2 1 77
Total permanent 302 82 21 78 226 91 37 57 13 1 908
Top management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Senior 
management 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Professionally 
qualified 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Skilled technical 5 0 0 3 2 1 0 1 0 0 12
Semi-skilled 12 2 0 1 8 3 2 1 0 0 29
Unskilled 4 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 10
Total non-
permanent 22 2 0 5 16 4 2 2 0 0 53

Grand total 324 84 21 83 242 95 39 59 13 1 961

Training and development
On-going skills development as well as creating a talent pipeline in the business and industry is key to our 
learning and development initiatives. During the year the Group prioritised unemployed internships and 
learnerships, successfully concluding 20 internships across the business.

6 interns placed in permanent positions. In addition, we are hosting 10 disabled, unemployed learnerships  
for an NQF Level 4 in Business Administration. 
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Enterprise development
The Group continues to invest in enterprise development. The Legacy series profiles entrepreneurs who are 
part of the HCI Club – small and medium-sized innovative businesses in South Africa using our most powerful 
medium, television. The inserts provide a detailed look at the entrepreneur, the business’s history and current 
operations. This otherwise unaffordable television airtime is offered free of charge. It allows the entrepreneurs to 
market their businesses to a national audience, which has benefits for sales and brand awareness and can lead 
to new partnerships and investments.

The following HCI Club Members advertising videos were produced by eMedia, and aired on the various e.tv 
channels during the F2022 financial year:

R’000

Blessed Corner Guest House 2 511
Edge Lodge 7 395
Geotra Exporters 7 912
NQ Jewellery Design Services 2 650
Tych Business Solutions 3 834
Vhavenda Hills Bed and Breakfast 17 187
VRB Hotel Services 26 350
LNL Group 1 237

Total  69 076

VRB Hotel Services 
A very big thank you to you and your team. I got so 
may well wishers and an overwhelming response 
from the abundance of airings. Mostly job seekers, 
a few SMEs and start-ups looking for advice and 
mentorship, some booking enquiries (which I 
forwarded to the Hotel) and a couple of Companies 
interested in our services. It really did save my 
business from total collapse. Thank you so much, 
I really appreciate every single thing that you and 
your team has done for me.

  – Vinesh Karamchund, Director

NQ Jewellery Design Services 

“What started as a small business in a back 
room in Soweto has become one of the 
biggest jewellery brands in South Africa.”

Nkosi, who won the Tsogo Sun Entrepreneur of the 
Year Award in 2016, coming out on top among 200 
SMMEs, has had businesswoman Dr Tshepo Motsepe 
don a pair of his earrings for her appearance on the 
cover of a magazine.

Nqobile Nkosi, 
owner of  

NQ Jewellery 
Design Services

Spotlight on our entrepreneurs



Public service announcement
At eMedia we support various non-profit organisations through on-air announcements and airtime across our 
channels. The below list shows the organisations which benefited from the exposure:

e.tv
R

Openview
R

eNCA
R

Total
R 

Arrive Alive 1 576 000 736 000 675 000 2 987 000
Association of Round Tables of Southern Africa 912 500 450 500 756 500 2 119 500
Tears Foundation 1 463 500 456 000 903 500 2 823 000
Greenpeace 1 201 000 605 000 602 000 2 408 000
Health Professionals of South Africa 301 000 301 000
Muscular Dystrophy Foundation of SA 600 000 298 000 308 000 1 206 000
Nelson Mandela Childrens Home 911 000 452 500 459 000 1 822 500
Pink Drive 881 000 453 000 715 000 2 049 000
Proveg South Africa 913 000 454 500 451 000 1 818 500
Reach for a dream 230 000 255 000 485 000
Wings for Life 770 000 549 000 404 000 1 723 000
Shout for Masks 472 000 435 000 907 000
Solidarity fund 300 800 151 600 153 600 606 000
The Boucher legacy 597 000 305 000 303 000 1 205 000
The breast health foundation 900 000 455 000 462 000 1 817 000
The centre for analytics and behavioural 
change – vaccine drive 909 772,50 459 218,50 455 886 1 824 877
The sunflower fund 564 000 301 000 308 000 1 173 000
Thuthukisa community initiative 209 300 104 440 103 600 417 340
Tin soldiers 901 000 451 000 458 000 1 810 000
Tygerberg hospital children's trust 599 000 301 000 287 000 1 187 000
Wild oceans 148 000 149 000 150 000 447 000
World foster day 300 000 152 000 452 000

15 659 872,50 7 131 758,50 8 797 086 31 88 717
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Summarised  
annual financial 
results
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Director’s report

Nature of business
eMedia Holdings is a media investment holding 
company, incorporated in South Africa and listed 
on the JSE under the media sector.

Operations and business
eMedia Holdings is a media investment company 
with media assets housed in eMedia Investments. 
These investments are constantly reviewed and new 
opportunities sought to complement them.

State of affairs and profit for the 
period
eMedia’s Financial Performance
For the year ended 31 March 2022, eMedia has 
experienced a resounding bounce back in its financial 
performance after the impact of the pandemic 
on businesses and the economy generally. This 
resounding bounce back is evident in a significant 
increase in profit from continued operations of 
R426.4 million as compared to the previous year’s 
profit of R138.5 million.

The year’s profit is also significantly better than the 
pre-COVID-19 year fiscal which ended in March 2020, 
which ended with an adjusted profit after adding 
back the goodwill impairment of R241.6 million. 
This fiscal as compared to the pre-COVID-19 
March 2020 profit shows a R184.8 million increase or 
a 76.5% increase and as compared to March 2021 is 
R287.9 million more and 207.9% better.

Revenue and Market Share
The Group’s revenue for the fiscal of R3.2 billion is the 
highest ever achieved, underscored by an increase 
in television advertising revenue to R2.1 billion. The 
television advertising revenue ended 39% better than 
the prior year and approximately 15% better than the 
market.

The Group benefited from the resurgence of 
television advertising revenues as compared to the 
pandemic affected years which experienced a decline 
in advertising spend. This benefit in advertising 
revenues can be attributed to an increase in the 
Group’s prime time audience market share from 
29.6% in March 2021 to 34.1% in March 2022, an 
increase of 15.2%.

Further analysis of the Group’s market share reveals 
an increase in both shoulder and prime time. The 
share ended at 31.8% and 34.1% respectively, making 
the Group the biggest broadcaster in audience share 
in both categories in South Africa.

for the year ended 31 March 2022

e.tv
The increase in audience market share has driven 
up e.tv’s advertising revenue. e.tv’s local dailies such 
as Imbewu, Scandal, House of Zwide and Durban 
General have driven the surge in market share in 
prime time. Edged on by this, management have 
invested in another local daily soap at 9:30 pm 
called The Black Door. With a few schedule changes 
Management is confident of increasing market share.

In September 2021, the Minister of Communications 
and Digital Technologies, Ms Khumbudzo 
Ntshavheni, released a press statement that digital 
migration and analogue switch-off would happen 
by no later than 31 March 2022. E.tv approached 
the High Court for an order setting aside the 
decision of the Minister to declare the date for ASO 
as 31 March 2022. The matter was heard by a full 
bench of the High Court in March 2022.

On 28 March the High Court dismissed e.tv and  
Media Monitoring Africa/SOS Support Public 
Broadcasting’s application. However, it found 
the date of 31 March 2022 to not be sufficient 
and ordered that analogue switch-off occur by 
30 June 2022 in order to give the Minister time 
to install the remaining set-top boxes. 

eMedia appealed the High Court’s decision directly 
to the Constitutional Court. In a unanimous 
judgement handed down on 28 June 2022, the 
Constitutional Court, set aside the Minister’s decision 
on the basis that it was unlawful. The court found that 
the Minister’s setting of the analogue switch-off date 
was not procedurally rational as it was set without 
adequate notice to or consultation with the industry 
and affected parties. 

Openview
The distribution of the four e.tv entertainment channels 
on Multichoice, which contributed to the Group’s 
audience and revenue share, is presently under 
investigation by the Competition Commission after 
non-renewal of the channel carriage agreement. At the 
time of this report the channels have been removed 
from the bouquet as interim relief was denied by the 
Competition Commission. The appeal was heard on  
8th of July and a decision is yet to be received.  

The set-top box activations for Openview are 
increasing on a monthly basis from an average of 
35 000 per month to 40 000 per month. At the end 
of the period a total of 2 774 454 boxes were activated.

Technological advancements being the focus of 
the business will bring in the next upgraded phase 
of the Openview set-top box, a smarter set-top box 
which will have improved memory facilities and  
Wi-Fi capability.
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eNCA
The news channel, eNCA, is the most watched news 
channel in the country, although it’s not offered on all 
tiers of the DSTV bouquet, whereas the competition 
is on all tiers. The advertising revenue targets were 
achieved through the pandemic affected years while 
its costs were carefully maintained.

The Group has secured a further five year agreement, 
starting 1 April 202,2 with Multichoice for the carriage of 
eNCA. The channel will remain exclusive to Multichoice.

eVOD
In August 2021 eMedia launched an OTT service, eVOD 
which has been well accepted in its target market. The 
number of registered viewers to date has been very 
encouraging with the average daily minutes viewed in 
excess of 1 000 000. The eOriginals offering on eVOD is 
the leading audience generator on eVOD making the 
Group bullish about investing a further R100 million in 
local original content which will be amortised across 
the Group’s platforms and channels.

Other Subsidiaries
All of the Groups subsidiaries which include Media 
Film Service, Sasani Studios, The Refinery, Cape Town 
Film Studios and YFM have posted better results 
having recovered from the COVID-19 years and all 
have returned to profitability.

Costs
Administrative and other costs have been well 
maintained although an increase of 19.7% has been 
revealed. This increase is mainly due to certain 
companies within the Group returning to 100% of 
salaries after reductions in the period of lockdowns 
and an increase in marketing activities after the lull 
brought on by the pandemic.

Profitability
The Group ended the year with a net profit of 
R420.8 million, which is inclusive of the loss of 
R5.6 million relating to discontinued operations, 
made up of losses from operations that the Group 
has considered non-essential and will be exiting or 
closing in the next financial year.

The above profit should be viewed in the context of the 
profit of the prior year of R107.9 million and an adjusted 
profit of R225.0 million in the year ended 31 March 
2020, the year before the impact of the pandemic.

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and 
amortisation for the Group ended on R677.9 million 
compared to R302.9 million in the prior year, a 123.8% 
increase year-on-year.

Material risk and opportunity 

Principal risk 
landscape

Specific risks the 
Group is exposed to Potential impact Risk responses

Macro-economic 
Environment

» Analogue switch-off

» Multichoice exit

» Weakening of the 
Rand

» International 
geopolitics impact the 
economy

» Lower revenue, 
growth and 
profitability

» Increased 
programming and 
operating costs

» Revise strategic 
priorities

» Increased focus on 
cost savings

» Targeted marketing 
and promotions

Regulatory change 
and compliance

» Increased complexity 
of compliance, eg 
POPI, CPA and FICA

» Changing B-BBEE 
requirements

» Adverse change 
in broadcast 
and/or licensing 
requirements

» Lower revenue, 
growth and 
profitability

» Increased 
programming and 
operating costs

» Comprehensive 
B-BBEE programme

» Actively participate 
with law makers 
through formal 
structures
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Principal risk 
landscape

Specific risks the 
Group is exposed to Potential impact Risk responses

Operational » Technology and social 
trends

» Increased 
competitivity, 
especially in lower 
LSM market

» Unreliable electricity 
supply/loadshedding

» Outdated 
infrastructure

» Lower revenue, 
growth and 
profitability 

» Increased 
programming and 
operating costs

» Broadcasting 
difficulties – reduced 
market share

» Market research to 
timeously spot trends

» Revise strategic 
priorities

» Investment in 
facility and back-up 
upgrades

» Maintain investment 
in local and 
international 
programming to 
retain audiences and 
attract advertising

» Effective monitoring 
of competition

Human resources » COVID-19

» Lifestyle diseases, 
including 
hypertension and 
diabetes

» Limited pool of 
qualified, trained and 
talented staff

» Changes in labour 
legislation

» Broadcasting 
difficulties – reduced 
market share, reduced 
profitability and 
reputational impacts

» Maintain a healthy 
work environment

» Fast track and develop 
talented staff

» Retention of staff 
through appropriate 
remuneration 
structures

» Performance-driven 
culture

Cyber, IT and 
information 
management

» Cybersecurity, 
malware, hacking, 
social engineering

» POPI

» Social media risk

» Technology change 
management

» Reputational risk

» Lower revenue, 
increased costs and 
profitability

» Increased risk of 
compliance

» Continuous 
monitoring of 
IT security and 
infrastructure

» Increased IT auditing 
and assurance

Opportunities
Change the business strategy from a linear television channel provider to becoming a content provider across 
terrestrial, satellite and digital platforms.

Dividends
A dividend of 25 cents per share was declared by the 
Group on the 26th of May 2022 (2021: 14 cents per share).

Share capital
As at 31 March 2022, no changes to stated capital 
occurred.

Directorate
The directors of the company appear on pages 8 
and 9. There were no changes to the directorate 
during the year. The board has adopted and 
approved a board diversity policy. Aspects of diversity 
encompassed in the policy, include, but are not 
limited to, making good use of differences in skills, 
industry experience, age, race, gender and other 

distinctions between members of the board.

» Gender diversity
– The board has adopted a policy on gender 

diversity at board level and agreed on voluntary 
targets. The board is currently represented by 
13% female members, all of whom are women 
from previously disadvantaged backgrounds. 
The Group remains committed to achieve their 
target of 25%.

» Race diversity
– The board has adopted a policy on race 

diversity at board level. The voluntary target 
was set at a majority of members being people 
from previously disadvantaged backgrounds. 
87.5% of the members of the board are people 
from previously disadvantaged backgrounds.
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Company secretary
The secretary of the company for the year ended 
31 March 2022 is HCI Managerial Services Proprietary 
Limited. The secretary has an arm’s-length 
relationship with the board. The name, business and 
postal address of the company secretary are set out 
on page 66.

Auditor
BDO South Africa Incorporated will continue in office 
in accordance with section 90 of the South African 
Companies Act, with Kathryn Luck as the designated 
auditor.

Significant shareholders
The company’s significant ordinary shareholder is 
Fulela Trade and Invest 81 Proprietary Limited and 
significant N ordinary shares is Hosken Consolidated 
Investments Limited.

Special resolutions
The following special resolutions were passed by 
the company’s shareholders at the annual general 
meeting held on 30 August 2021:

» Granting the directors, subject to the provisions 
of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, authority 
to allot and issue a portion of the authorised but 
unissued shares, as the directors in their discretion 
think fit;

» Approval of the fees payable to non-executive 
directors for their services as directors or as 
members of the board sub-committees in respect 
of the period 1 September 2021 until the date of 
the next annual general meeting;

» Granting the company and the subsidiaries of 
the company a general authority in terms of 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE for the 
acquisition by the company, or a subsidiary of 
the company, of ordinary issued shares issued 
by the company.

Special resolutions of subsidiaries
The statutory information relating to special 
resolutions passed by subsidiaries is available from 
the registered office of the company.

Auditor’s report
The consolidated annual financial statements have 
been audited by BDO South Africa Incorporated and 
their unqualified audit report on the comprehensive 
annual financial statements is available for inspection 
at the registered office of the company or on the 
company’s website.

Shareholding of directors
The shareholding of directors of the company and 
their participation in the share incentive scheme 
and in the issued share capital of the company as at 
31 March 2022, are set out in the remuneration report, 

which forms part of the integrated annual report, 
on page 40 and 41.

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments incurred by the company 
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2022 
are set out in the remuneration report on page 41 
and in the notes to the annual financial statements 
on page 61.

Associates, joint ventures and 
subsidiaries
Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in 
the annual financial statements available on the 
company’s website at www.emediaholdings.co.za.

Borrowing powers
There are no limits placed on borrowing in terms of the 
MOI. Certain companies in the Group have entered into 
various loan agreements with providers of loan finance. 
These loan agreements include various covenants and 
undertakings by companies in the Group, which may 
restrict the Group’s borrowing powers. Details of these 
covenants and undertakings are available from the 
registered office of the company.

Litigation statement
There are no material legal or arbitration proceedings 
(including proceedings which are pending or 
threatened of which the directors of eMedia are 
aware), which may have or have had, during the 
12-month period preceding the last practicable  
date, a material effect on the financial position of 
eMedia Holdings.

No change statement
There has been no material change in the financial 
or trading position of the eMedia Holdings group 
since the publication of its reviewed summarised 
consolidated annual results released on the 26th of 
May 2022, for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

Subsequent events
On 30 June 2022, a shareholder of Cape Town Film 
Studios exercised a put option which led to an 
increased shareholding for eMedia Investments  
(from 44.7% to 50%) due to a dilution of share interests.

eMedia Investments therefore have gained joint 
control and rights to the net assets of Cape Town 
Film Studios. Under the requirements of IFRS 11, 
the investment will continue being classified as an 
associate with the equity method being applied.

On 26 May 2022, the directors resolved to declare 
a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 of  
25c per share.

There were no significant events subsequent to this 
reporting date that would require adjustment to the 
financial results as currently reported.
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Declaration by company secretary
We certify that eMedia Holdings has lodged with the Registrar of Companies, for the financial year ended 
31 March 2022, all such returns and notices as are required by a public company in terms of the Companies Act 
of South Africa and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited

HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited company secretary

27 July 2022

Approval of annual financial 
statements
The directors of eMedia Holdings are responsible for 
the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of 
the financial statements of the company and of the 
Group and for other information contained in this 
integrated annual report.

The summarised audited financial statements set out 
on pages 56 to 65 and the annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2022, available on the 
company’s website at www.emediaholdings.co.za, have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRS and include 
amounts based on prudent judgements and estimates 
by management.

The directors are satisfied that the information 
contained in the consolidated annual financial 
statements fairly represents the results of operations 
for the year and the financial position of the Group 
at year-end. The accuracy of the other information 
included in this report was considered by the 
directors and they are satisfied that it accords with 
the consolidated annual financial statements.

The directors are also responsible for the Group’s 
system of internal financial controls. The system was 
developed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance regarding the reliability of the financial 
statements, the safeguarding of assets, and to 
prevent and detect misrepresentation and losses.

The going concern basis has been adopted in 
preparing the financial statements. The directors 
have no reason to believe that the Group or any 
company within the Group will not be a going 
concern for at least 12 months after year-end based 
on forecasts and available cash resources. These 
financial statements support the viability of the 
company and the Group. The financial statements 
have been audited by the independent auditing 
firm, BDO South Africa Incorporated, which was 
given unrestricted access to all financial records 
and related data, including minutes of all meetings 
of shareholders, the board and committees of the 
board. The report of the independent auditor on the 
summarised consolidated statements is presented 
on page 55. The auditor’s report on the full annual 
financial statements can be found on pages 10 to 13 
in the annual financial statements.

The directors believe that all representations made to 
the independent auditor during the audit were valid 
and appropriate.

Each of the directors, whose names are stated below, 
hereby confirm that:

(a) the summarised consolidated annual financial 
statements set out on pages 56 to 65, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of 
the issuer in terms of IFRS;

(b) to the best of our knowledge and belief, no facts 
have been omitted or untrue statements made 
that would make the annual financial statements 
false or misleading;

(c) internal financial controls have been put in place 
to ensure that material information relating to 
the issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries have 
been provided to effectively prepare the financial 
statements of the issuer;  

(d) the internal financial controls are adequate and 
effective and can be relied upon in compiling 
the annual financial statements, having fulfilled 
our role and function as executive directors with 
primary responsibility for implementation and 
execution of controls;

(e) where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed 
to the audit committee and the auditors 
any deficiencies in design and operational 
effectiveness of the internal financial controls, and 
have taken steps to remedy the deficiencies; and

(f) we are not aware of any fraud involving directors.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2022, which are available on the company’s 
website, were approved by the board on 27 July 2022 
and are signed on its behalf by:

MKI Sherrif   AS Lee
MKI Sherrif   AS Lee
Chief executive officer  Financial director

27 July 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
on the summarised consolidated financial statements

To the Shareholders of eMedia 
Holdings Limited 
Opinion
The summarised consolidated financial statements 
of eMedia Holdings Limited, set out in the Integrated 
Annual Report, which comprise the summarised 
consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 31 March 2022, the summarised consolidated 
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive 
income,  the summarised consolidated statement of 
changes  in equity and the summarised consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and related notes, are derived from the audited 
consolidated financial statements of eMedia Holdings 
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2022.

In our opinion, the accompanying summarised 
consolidated financial statements are consistent, in 
all material respects, with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of eMedia Holdings Limited, 
in accordance with the JSE Limited’s (JSE) 
requirements for summarised financial statements, 
as set out in the note “Basis of presentation of 
summarised consolidated financial statements” to 
the summarised consolidated financial statements, 
and the requirements of the Companies Act of 
South Africa as applicable to summarised financial 
statements.

Summarised Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
The summarised consolidated financial statements 
do not contain all the disclosures required by 
International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa as applicable to consolidated annual financial 
statements. Reading the summarised consolidated 
financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon, 
therefore, is not a substitute for reading the audited 
consolidated financial statements and the auditor’s 
report thereon.

The Audited Consolidated Financial 
Statements and our Report thereon
We expressed an unmodified audit opinion on the 
audited consolidated financial statements in our 
report dated 27 July 2022. That report also includes 
communication of key audit matters. Key audit matters 
are those matters that, in our professional judgement, 
were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Summarised 
Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the summarised consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with the JSE’s requirements for 
summarised financial statements, set out in the note 
“Basis of presentation of summarised consolidated 
financial statements” to the summarised 
consolidated financial statements, and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa as 
applicable to summarised financial statements.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether 
the summarised consolidated financial statements 
are consistent, in all material respects, with the 
audited consolidated financial statements based on 
our procedures, which were conducted in accordance 
with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 810 
(Revised), Engagements to Report on Summary 
Financial Statements.
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STU½VWYZ[½\]̂_̀a½bd̀ŴeŴaZfg
BDO South Africa Incorporated
Registered Auditors

KA Luck 
Director

Registered Auditor

27 July 2022

Wanderers Office Park 
52 Corlett Drive
Illovo, 2196

BDO South Africa Incorporated 
Registration number: 1995/002310/21 
Practice number: 905526
VAT number: 4910148685

Chief Executive Officer: LD Mokoena

A full list of all company directors is available on www.bdo.co.za

The company’s principal place of business is at The Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive, Illovo, Johannesburg where a list of directors’ names is 
available for inspection. BDO South Africa Incorporated, a South African personal liability company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a 
UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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Summarised consolidated statement 
of financial position

Audited
31 March

2022
R’000

Audited
31 March

2021
R’000

Assets
Non-current assets 3 823 419 3 880 599

Property, plant and equipment 1 066 761 1 082 198

Plant and equipment 226 912 250 435
Owner-occupied property 839 849 831 763

Right-of-use assets 15 956 23 980
Intangible assets 2 300 072 2 349 967
Goodwill 182 143 182 143
Equity-accounted investees 189 147 184 313
Long-term receivables 8 619 11 726
Deferred tax assets 60 721 46 272

Current assets 1 785 597 1 573 604

Inventories 92 954 5 452
Programming rights 978 651 1 074 631
Trade and other receivables 513 010 428 945
Current tax assets 1 840 1 475
Cash and cash equivalents 199 142 63 101

Assets of disposal groups 4 896 10 413

Total assets 5 613 912 5 464 616

Equity and liabilities
Total equity 3 996 695 3 743 772

Stated capital 6 762 797 6 762 797
Treasury shares (20 801) (19 861)
Reserves (3 989 224) (4 107 679)

Equity attributable to owners of the company 2 752 772 2 635 257
Non-controlling interest 1 243 923 1 108 515

Non-current liabilities 863 709 927 203

Deferred tax liabilities 522 807 524 149
Borrowings 329 164 383 594
Lease liabilities 11 738 19 460

Current liabilities 751 743 785 778

Current tax liabilities 118 –
Current portion of borrowings 91 647 176 295
Trade and other payables 659 978 604 654
Bank overdraft – 4 829

Liabilities of disposal groups 1 765 7 863

Total liabilities 1 617 217 1 720 844

Total equity and liabilities 5 613 912 5 464 616

Net asset value 2 752 772 2 635 257
Net asset value per share after treasury shares (cents) 622 595
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Summarised consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income

Audited
31 March

2022
R’000

Audited
31 March

2021
R’000

Continuing operations
Media and broadcasting revenue 3 190 608 2 428 959
Lease income 15 394 15 064
Cost of sales (1 748 050) (1 494 225)

Gross profit 1 457 952 949 798
Other income 11 155 13 961
Administrative and other expenses (791 252) (660 902)

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation 677 855 302 857
Depreciation and amortisation (139 537) (123 969)

Operating profit 538 318 178 888
Finance income 12 650 10 603
Finance expenses (28 488) (20 273)
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of taxation 4 986 2 799

Profit before taxation 527 466 172 017
Taxation (101 046) (33 565)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 426 420 138 452
Discontinued operations
Loss for the year from discontinued operations, net of taxation (5 590) (30 497)

Profit for the year 420 830 107 955
Other comprehensive loss, net of related taxation
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences (6 502) (8 251)

Other comprehensive (loss), net of taxation (6 502) (8 251)

Total comprehensive income for the year 414 328 99 704

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the company 283 321 72 264
Non-controlling interest 137 509 35 691

420 830 107 955

Total comprehensive profit attributable to:
Owners of the company 278 920 66 679
Non-controlling interest 135 408 33 025

414 328 99 704

Basic earnings per share (cents)
Earnings/(Loss) 63.96 16.31

Continuing operations 64.81 20.97
Discontinued operations (0.85) (4.66)

Headline earnings per share (cents)
Earnings/(Loss) 64.54 16.42

Continuing operations 65.39 21.08
Discontinued operations (0.85) (4.66)
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Summarised consolidated statement 
of changes in equity

Stated
capital
R’000

Treasury
shares
R’000

Other
reserves

R’000

Retained
income

R’000

Equity
owners

R’000

Non-
controlling

interest
R’000

Total
equity
R’000

Group
Balance 31 March 2020 6 762 797 (19 861) (22 275) (4 103 041) 2 617 620 1 075 490 3 693 110
Profit – – – 72 264 72 264 35 691 107 955
Foreign currency 
translation reserve – – (5 585) – (5 585) (2 666) (8 251)
Dividends – – – (49 042) (49 042) – (49 042)

Balance 31 March 2021 6 762 797 (19 861) (27 860) (4 079 819) 2 635 257 1 108 515 3 743 772

Profit – – – 283 321 283 321 137 509 420 830
Foreign currency 
translation reserve – – (4 401) – (4 401) (2 101) (6 502)
Share buy-back – (940) – – (940) – (940)
Dividends – – – (160 465) (160 465) – (160 465)

Balance 31 March 2022 6 762 797 (20 801) (32 261) (3 956 963) 2 752 772 1 243 923 3 996 695
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Summarised consolidated statement 
of cash flows

Audited
31 March

2022
R’000

Audited
31 March

2021
R’000

Cash from operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities 674 176 242 879
Finance income 3 963 10 603
Finance costs (30 687) (20 273)
Taxes paid (117 495) (28 287)
Dividends paid (160 465) (49 042)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 369 492 155 880

Cash used in investing activities
Acquisition/development of property, plant and equipment (84 497) (241 585)

Development of owner-occupied properties (18 070) (199 312)
Acquisition of plant and equipment (66 427) (42 273)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 77 224
Additions to intangible assets – (1 559)
Payment to shareholders (13 560) – 
Loans advanced to equity accounting investees 8 267 (1 967)

Net cash used in investing activities (89 713) (244 887)

Cash (used in)/from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings (326 298) (98 513)
Borrowings raised 200 000 75 500
Principal paid on lease liabilities (12 747) (20 938)

Net cash (used in) financing activities (139 045) (43 951)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 140 734 (132 958)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 58 697 191 655
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held – –

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 199 431 58 697

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:
Cash and cash equivalents 199 431 58 697

Bank balances 199 142 63 101
Cash in disposal group assets held for sale 289 425
Bank overdrafts – (4 829)
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Earnings, diluted and headline 
earnings per share

Audited
Gross
R’000

Reviewed
Net

R’000

For the year ended 31 March 2022
Earnings attributable to equity owners of the parent 283 321
IAS 16 profit on disposal of plant and equipment (27) (13)
IAS 16 impairment of plant and equipment    412 201
IAS 28 remeasurements included in equity accounted earnings      (1 287) (627)
IAS 38 impairment of intangible assets 6 197 3 020

Headline earnings 285 902

Audited
Gross
R’000

Audited
Net

R’000

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Earnings attributable to equity owners of the parent 72 264
IAS 16 profit on disposal of plant and equipment (138) (67)
IAS 16 impairment of plant and equipment 1 105 539
IAS 38 impairment of intangible assets 97 47

Headline earnings 72 783
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Statistics per share

Audited
31 March

2022
R’000

Audited
31 March

2021
R’000

Basic earnings (R’000)
Earnings/(Loss) 283 321 72 264

Continuing operations 287 105 92 907
Discontinued operations (3 784) (20 643)

Headline earnings/(Loss) 285 902 72 783

Continuing operations 289 686 93 426
Discontinued operations (3 784) (20 643)

Basic earnings per share (cents)
Earnings/(Loss) 63.96 16.31

Continuing operations 64.81 20.97
Discontinued operations (0.85) (4.66)

Headline earnings per share (cents)
Earnings/(Loss) 64.54 16.42

Continuing operations 65.39 21.08
Discontinued operations (0.85) (4.66)

Weighted average number of shares in issue – 31 March (000) 442 994 443 114

Issued shares as at 1 April (000) 443 114 443 114
Effect of own shares held (000) (120)

Net number of shares in issue – 31 March (000) 442 869 443 114

Number of shares in issue – 31 March (000) 445 738 445 738
Number of treasury shares in issue – 31 March (000) (2 869) (2 624)

Basic and diluted earnings per share
The Group has no dilution effect on basic and headline earnings per share in the current and prior year.

During the year, the company entered into a share buyback from Group employees who resigned, resulting in 
the buyback of 245 024 N ordinary shares. The share buyback transaction is accounted for as treasury shares in 
the statement of changes in equity.
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Notes to the summarised 
consolidated results
1. Basis of preparation and accounting policies

The results for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), the disclosure requirements of IAS 34, the requirements of the South African 
Companies Act, 2008, and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (JSE Listings Requirements). The 
accounting policies applied by the Group in the preparation of these reviewed consolidated condensed 
financial statements are consistent with those applied by the Group in its consolidated financial statements 
as at, and for, the year ended 31 March 2022. These results do not include all the information required for 
a complete set of IFRS financial statements. However, selected explanatory notes are included to explain 
events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in the Group’s financial 
position and performance since the last annual consolidated financial statements as at and for the year 
ended 31 March 2021. As required by the JSE Listings Requirements, the Group reports headline earnings in 
accordance with Circular 1/2021: Headline Earnings as issued by SAICA.

These results have been prepared under the supervision of the financial director, AS Lee CA(SA).

2. Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies applied in the consolidated condensed financial statements are the same as those 
applied in the Group’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 March 2022.

3. Stated capital
During the year, the company entered into a share buyback from Group employees who resigned, resulting 
in the buyback of 245 024 N ordinary shares. The share buyback transaction is accounted for as treasury 
shares in the statement of changes in equity. No other changes occurred.

4. Goodwill
An assessment has been performed by management at year end on the impairment of goodwill and has 
resulted in no impairment required.

5. Segment report
The Group only has one operating segment i.e. the media segment. The chief operating decision-maker, 
identified as the executive member of the board, considers the operations of the Group at year end as those 
of media only and therefore no separate disclosure for operating segments is required.

6. Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations as disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income consist of the following:

Audited
31 March

2022
R’000

Audited
 31 March

2021
R’000

Revenue
Silverline Studios Proprietary Limited 5 120 3 862

Total revenue 5 120 3 862

(Loss) from discontinued operations
Silverline Studios Proprietary Limited (5 590) (12 917)
Longkloof Limited Group – (16 906)
Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited – (674)

Total loss (5 590) (30 497)
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7. Revenue disaggregation
Revenue disaggregated by pattern of revenue recognition

Group

Revenue
recognised
 over time

R’000

Revenue
 recognised

at a point
in time

R’000
Total

R’000

31 March 2022
Advertising revenue 2 262 585 – 2 262 585
Decoder sales – 240 638 240 638
Content sales – 20 399 20 399
Facility income 221 586 – 221 586
Licence fees 445 400 – 445 400

2 929 571 261 037 3 190 608

31 March 2021
Advertising revenue 1 613 049 – 1 613 049
Decoder sales – 202 758 202 758
Content sales – 34 044 34 044
Facility income 151 280 – 151 280
Licence fees 427 828 – 427 828

2 192 157 236 802 2 428 959

8. Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of short-term financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying values as disclosed in 
the statement of financial position.

Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels 
have been defined as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
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Level 1
R’000

Level 2
R’000

Level 3
R’000

Total
R’000

31 March 2022
Financial (liabilities) at fair value 
through profit or loss
Forward exchange contracts – (9 697) – (9 697)

– (9 697) – (9 697)

31 March 2021
Financial (liabilities) at fair value 
through profit or loss
Forward exchange contracts – (2 738) – (2 738)

– (2 738) – (2 738)

 The Group’s foreign currency forward contracts are not traded in active markets. These contracts have been 
fair valued using observable forward exchange rates and interest rates corresponding to the maturity of the 
contract. The effects of non-observable inputs are not significant for foreign currency forward contracts. 

9. Post-year-end events
On 30 June 2022, a shareholder of Cape Town Film Studios exercised a put option which led to an increased 
shareholding for eMedia Investments (from 44.7% to 50%) due to a dilution of share interests.

eMedia Investments therefore have gained joint control and rights to the net assets of Cape Town Film 
Studios. Under the requirements of IFRS 11, the investment will continue being classified as an associate with 
the equity method being applied.

On 26 May 2022, the directors resolved to declare a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 of 25c per share.

The directors are not aware of any event or circumstance occurring between the reporting date and the date 
of this report that materially affects the results of the Group or Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 
or the financial position at that date. There has been no change in directors interest between reporting date 
and date of this report. 

10. Going Concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation 
of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary 
course of business.

Management’s consideration for going concern includes all factors applicable to the Group, also taking into 
consideration any impacts of COVID-19. Management therefore are satisfied that the going concern basis 
has been correctly applied and the financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting 
policies applicable to a going concern.

11. Changes in directorate
No changes during the year.

12. Related party transactions
During the year, in the ordinary course of business, certain companies within the Group entered into 
transactions with one another. These intra-group transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. 
Transactions with Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited (HCI) (ultimate holding company), entities 
in which HCI has an interest, Remgro Limited (Remgro) (shareholder in eMedia Investments Proprietary 
Limited), and Venfin Media Investments Proprietary Limited (Venfin) (a wholly owned subsidiary of Remgro) 
are included in the following table:
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Audited
31 March

2022
R’000

Audited
31 March

2021
R’000

Expense transaction values with related parties
HCI – management fees paid (18 504) (17 764)
GRIPP Advisory – internal audit service fee (3 018) (2 921)
Remgro – management fees paid (2 102) (2 102)

Balances owing (to)/by related parties
HCI – working capital loan (8 602) (8 602)
HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited (1 776) (1 699)
Venfin – loan relating to the acquisition of Longkloof Limited (18 363) (94 922)
Cape Town Film Studios – associate loan 119 926 119 926
Dreamworld Management Company – associate loan 13 565 13 145
Employees of the group – loans relating to company shares held by 
employees 1 788 2 929

Auditor’s report
The consolidated annual financial statements have been audited by BDO South Africa Incorporated and its 
unqualified audit report on the comprehensive annual financial statements is available for inspection at the 
registered office of the company and at www.emediaholdings.co.za. 

Dividend to shareholders
The directors of eMedia Holdings have resolved to declare a final cash dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 
of 25 cents per share (2021: 14 cents). The dividend to shareholders relates to the ordinary shares (share code: 
EMH) and N ordinary shares (share code: EMN). The dividend will be subject to a local dividend withholding 
tax at a rate of 20%, which will result in a net final dividend to those shareholders not exempt from paying 
dividend withholding tax of 20 cents per ordinary share and 25 cents per ordinary share for those shareholders 
who are exempt from dividend withholding tax. In terms of dividend withholding tax legislation, any dividend 
withholding tax amount due will be withheld and paid over to the South African Revenue Service by a nominee 
company, stockbroker or Central Securities Depository Participant (collectively “regulated intermediary”) on 
behalf of shareholders. All shareholders should declare their status to their regulated intermediary as they 
may qualify for a reduced dividend withholding tax rate or exemption. The salient dates for the payment of the 
dividend are as follows:

Last day to trade cum dividend  Monday, 13 June 2022

Commence trading ex dividend  Tuesday, 14 June 2022

Record date    Friday, 17 June 2022

Payment date    Monday, 20 June 2022

Share certificates may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Tuesday, 14 June 2022 and Friday,  
17 June 2022, both dates inclusive.

eMedia Holdings’ tax reference number is 9650/144/71/1.

Signed for and on behalf of the board on 27 July 2022 by:

MKI Sherrif    AS Lee
Mahomed Khalik Sherrif  Antonio Lee
Chief executive officer   Financial director

27 July 2022
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eMedia Holdings Limited
The company’s shares are listed under the Media 
sector of the JSE Limited
 
Company registration number
1968/011249/06 (Incorporated in the Republic of South 
Africa)
 
Registered office
4 Albury Road
Hyde Park
Dunkeld West
Johannesburg, 2196

Private Bag X9944
Sandton, 2146
 
Directors
JA Copelyn* (chairperson)
MKI Sherrif (chief executive officer)
AS Lee (financial director)
TG Govender*
Y Shaik*
VE Mphande*^
L Govender*^
RD Watson*^ (lead independent)

* Non-executive | ^ Independent
 
Company secretary
HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited
Suite 801 76 Regent Road Sea Point, 8005

P.O. Box 5251 Cape Town, 8000

 Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, 2196

Private Bag X9000
Saxonwold, 2132
 
Auditors
BDO South Africa Incorporated
Practice number: 905526
Wanderers Office Park
52 Corlett Drive
Illovo, 2196

Private Bag X10046
Sandton, 2146
 
Bankers
Standard Bank of South Africa

Sponsor
Investec Bank Limited
100 Grayston Drive
Sandton
Sandown, 2196

Website
www.emediaholdings.co.za

Corporate information
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